A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE STATUS OF BUSINESS EDUCATION IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS

FOR 1969-70

A Thesis

Presented to

the Division of Business and Business Education

Kansas State Teachers College

Emporia, Kansas

In Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

Ъу

Frances C. Edwards

August, 1972

For the Division of Business and Business Education

For the Division of Business and Business Education

Division of Business Education

Bus iness

Graduate Division

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My sincere appreciation is extended to Dr. Raymond B. Russell, Head of the Division of Business and Business Education, under whose guidance this study was made. I also thank Dr. George Walters for his helpful suggestions throughout this study.

Thanks are also extended to the staff of the State Department of Public Instruction in Topeka for their cooperation in making official records available.

Frances C. Edwards

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	1	Page
LIST OF	TABLES	v
Chapter		
1.	INTRODUCTION	1
	The Problem	2
	Statement of the Problem	2
	Statement of the Hypothesis	3
	Purpose of the Study	3
	Significance of the Study	3
	Definitions of Terms Used	4
	The Scope of the Study	7
	Methods of Procedure	8
2.	REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE	10
3.	A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE STATUS OF BUSINESS	
	EDUCATION FROM 1926-27 to 1969-70	19
	School Classification	19
	Business Curriculum	22
	Classification of Teachers	28
	Teaching Fields	32
	Course Combinations	41
	Experience and Tenure	48
	Teacher Preparation	55
	Salaries	59

	7. A
Chapter	age
First-Year Business Teachers	72
4. SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS	80
Summary and Conclusions	80
Recommendations	87
BIBLIOGRAPHY	89
APPENDIXES	92
A. Work Sheets	93
B. Principal's Organization Report Form	95
C. Teaching Combinations	101

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Kansas Secondary Schools Offering a Business Curriculum during 1969-70 by School Classification and Legal Organization	20
2.	Business Courses Offered in Kansas Secondary Schools for the School Year 1969-70	23
3.	A Comparison of the Percentages of the Twenty Most Frequently Offered Business Courses in Kansas Secondary Schools as Found in Eight Studies Since 1926-27	25
4.	Business Courses that were Added, Dropped, or Alternated but not Offered in Kansas Secondary Schools in 1969-70.	27
5.	Number of Part-Time and Full-Time Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1969-70	29
6.	A Comparison of Part-Time and Full-Time Male and Female Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools as Shown by Six Studies from 1942-43 to 1969-70	31
7.	Part- and Full-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools in 1969-70 According to Sex and Legal Organization	33
8.	Male and Female Part- and Full-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools in 1969-70 by School Classification	34
9.	Number of Teaching Fields in Which Kansas Secondary School Business Teachers Work by School Classification .	36
10.	Frequency of Teaching Fields That Were Taught with Business Courses by Full-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools	39
1).	A Comparison of Teaching Fields Most Frequently Taught in Combination with Business Courses as Shown by Seven Studies Since 1930-31	40
12.	Teaching Field Combinations of Part-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	42

Table		Page
13.	Teaching Field Combinations of Full-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70 by School Classification	44
14.	Twelve Most Frequently Found Teaching Combinations of Business Courses for Full-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	47
15.	Teaching Experience of Full-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1969-70	49
16.	Tenure of Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools in 1969-70	53
17.	Total College Hours of Full-Time and Part-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	5 7
18.	Salaries of Full-Time Male and Female Teachers of Business Courses in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	60
19.	A Comparison of Salaries of Full-Time Male and Female Business Teachers with College Hours under 160 and Business Teachers with College Hours Over 160 in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	65
20.	Median Salaries of Teachers of Business Subjects with Less than 160 Hours and Teachers with More than 160 Hours in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	68
21.	High, Low, and Median Salaries of Full-Time Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70 Compared with Teaching Experience	70
22.	Salaries of Ninety-Eight Full-Time First-Year Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	73
23.	Teaching Field Combinations of Full-Time First-Year Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	75
24.	Teaching Course Combinations of Full-Time First-Year Business Teachers in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	76
25.	One-Course Teaching Combinations of Full-Time Male and Female Teachers of Business Subjects in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	101

Table		Page
26.	Two-Course Teaching Combinations of Full-Time Male and Female Teachers of Business Subjects in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	102
27.	Three-Course Teaching Combinations of Full-Time Male and Female Teachers of Business Subjects in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	104
28.	Four-Course Teaching Combinations of Full-Time Male and Female Teachers of Business Subjects in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	107
29.	Five-Course Teaching Combinations of Full-Time Male and Female Teachers of Business Subjects in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	109
30.	Six-Course Teaching Combinations of Full-Time Male and Female Teachers of Business Subjects in Kansas Secondary Schools During 1969-70	131

Chapter 1

INTRODUCTION

Most business educators were aware of the sensitivity of the American business man to the rapid socioeconomic and technological changes with which he had to cope. He maintained a continuous evaluation of administrative practices and procedures, he kept informed of the latest developments in machinery and equipment, and he tried to be an informed citizen in domestic and foreign affairs in order to survive in the highly competitive realm of business. Most business educators were aware, too, of the "need for continuous evaluation of administrative practices, curriculum development, and effectiveness of instruction in business education." If business education in the secondary schools was to make a contribution to business, which "now constitutes a major aspect of American culture." They were also aware that the purposes and objectives of business education must change as the social, economic, and business scenes changed.

It was necessary, then, that a survey of business curricula in Kansas be taken periodically to determine the status of business education to see if business education was meeting those socioeconomic and technological changes. Fred S. Cook supported the need for change in the business curriculum when he stated:

¹Gerald A. Porter, "The Survey Study in Business Education," National Business Education Quarterly, XXXV (December, 1966), 29.

²Harold H. Punke, "Business Education and Civic Responsibility," Balance Sheet, LI (September, 1969), 6.

Technological innovations in business, industry (especially aerospace research), and more resently in education have already had their impact on some of our traditional concepts. Out of this technological change, a whole new field of invention in educational hardware and method, called educational technology, has challenged education in general and a limited extent business education. The social, economic, political, and scientific forces that have brought about past technological changes and the forces that are causing an even more rapid development of change in our modern society will directly influence the future role of business education in the secondary schools.

The Problem

In light of the rapid technological, socioeconomic, and occupational changes in business, educational objectives and procedures must be periodically appraised to determine what concepts being taught were no longer applicable and to determine what new concepts needed to be adopted to meet the rapid change in business. It was assumed that advancement and improvement in business education, which evolved more slowly, was lagging far behind the rapidly changing procedures in business.

Statement of the Problem

Did the 1969-70 survey of the business curricula in Kansas indicate a significant change when compared with earlier surveys made of business curricula in Kansas? Did this survey indicate any significant change in teacher preparation, their years of experience, tenure, and salaries?

¹ Fred S. Cook, "Implication of Educational Technology,"

Business Education Meets the Challenge of Change, Fourth Yearbook of the National Business Education Association (Washington, D. C.: National Business Education Association, 1966), p. 179.

Statement of the Hypothesis

A 1969-70 survey of the business curricula in Kansas indicated no significant change when compared with earlier surveys of business curricula, teacher preparation and experience, tenure, and salary.

Purpose of the Study

Since advancement and improvement in the field of business education did not result automatically from socioeconomic and technological changes, a survey of business education in secondary schools, when compared with surveys made since the school year 1926-27, disclosed trends in the curriculum. Such a survey made reappraisal of old, established objectives of business education possible, giving business educators data on which the traditional and time-honored procedures of the past could be modified.

In addition to disclosing the status of business education, a survey disclosed trends in the education of business teachers, their academic training, teaching field combinations, experience, and salaries.

Significance of the Study

The data obtained from a status study of business education in Kansas was of value in three areas. First, current information was necessary to the future business teacher to enable him to become proficient in those subjects being taught in Kansas secondary schools. Second, the survey was of value to future business teachers who were interested in salaries and teaching combinations. Third, the findings concerning the curriculum was of interest to the high school student by indicating what business courses were available to him.

Definitions of Terms Used

For the purposes of this study, the following definitions were used:

Secondary Schools

Secondary schools referred to those schools which included grades 9, 10, 11, and 12. In the case of three-year high schools, which had grades 10, 11, and 12, data for the ninth grade were taken from the junior high school reports.

Full-Time Business Teacher

A full-time business teacher taught at least three classes of business subjects and was employed as a teacher for the total school day.

Part-Time Business Teacher

A part-time business teacher taught at least one or two business subjects and the remainder of his teaching assignment was made up of subjects outside the business curriculum, or he taught at least one or two business subjects and was not employed for the entire school day.

Course Titles

Because the principals' reports contained titles of courses for which the content could not be determined, the following designations were made:

- 1. Business English included courses listed as business English, business composition, and business communications.
- Bookkeeping II included courses listed as Bookkeeping II and Accounting II.

- 3. Office practice included those courses listed as office practice, secretarial training, secretarial office practice, clerical training, clerical practice, special office practice, stenography, modern business practices, and advanced office practice.
- 4. Business economics included courses listed as business economics, personal finance, consumer economics, principles of economics, consumer problems, and money and banking. Those courses that were listed merely as economics and not taught by a business teacher were not included under the course title of business economics.
- 5. General business included courses listed as general business, practical business, business techniques, basic business, introduction to business, business explorations, and business survey.
- 6. Office machines included office machines, modern business machines, and business machines.
- 7. Business mathematics included courses designated as business mathematics, business arithmetic, and consumer mathematics.
- 8. Business law included courses listed as business law and commercial law.
- 9. Business principles included all courses listed as business principles and advanced business.
- 10. Personal typewriting included courses listed as personal typewriting and functional typewriting.
- 11. Record keeping included courses listed as record keeping, clerical record keeping, and personal bookkeeping.
- 12. Typewriting III included courses listed as Typewriting III and production typewriting.

Alternated Courses

Alternated courses were those courses that were not offered every semester or every year, but were offered every other semester or every other year.

Legal Organization of School

public and non-public. All public secondary schools were formed under unified school districts. A unified school district was "a school district organized under authority of the State to provide a uniform system of free public schools for kindergarten through grade twelve or grades one through twelve." Non-public schools included parochial, state and institutional secondary schools.

School Classification

Secondary schools were designated as accredited, comprehensive, provisional accredited, and non-public accreditation. An accredited high school offered and taught "at least thirty units of instruction in grades nine through twelve each school year." These units were "taught by certified personnel who must meet field and subject requirements." These requirements stipulated a minimum of twenty-four semester hours of preparation in the business field with the equivalent

¹Kansas State Department of Education, Rules, Regulations, Standards, and Procedures for Accrediting High Schools, Bulletin 201, (Topeka: Kansas State Frinting Plant, 1970), p. 22.

²Ibid., p. 14.

³Ibid.

of six semester hours in each subject taught. A comprehensive high school provided "a minimum of fifty units of resident instruction . . . taught each school year in all of the nine curricular areas." These units were also taught by certified personnel who met field and subject requirements. Provisionally accredited schools were those secondary schools that did not meet all specified requirements by the State Board of Education. Such secondary schools provided that minimum requirements would be met within one year. Those schools designated as non-public accreditation were secondary schools operated by a governmental agency or by a private foundation which did not meet accreditation standards of the State Board of Education.²

The Scope of the Study

The data for this study was obtained from the 1969-70 High School Principal's Organization Reports on file in the office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction at Topeka, Kansas. The reports of 436 secondary schools, including 398 unified high schools, 32 non-public high schools, 6 state and institutional schools, and 67 junior high schools, were examined and used as a basis for this study. The reports of those schools were checked against an official list of secondary schools provided by the Kansas State Department of Education for the 1969-70 school year. All reports were found to be on file.

¹Ibid., p. 15.

²Ibid.

³Kansas State Department of Education, 1969-1970 Accredited Elementary and Secondary Schools (Topeka: Kansas State Printing Plant, 1970), pp. 1-130.

The data presented in this study were believed to be accurate and complete except for inaccurate reporting of information on the principals' reports, either intentional or accidental, clarical errors made by this writer and his assistants in transferring information from the reports to the work sheets, and in the preparation of the tables.

This study attempted to analyze the data from the High School Principal's Organization Reports to determine the status of business education in Kansas for the school year 1969-70, to determine the salaries paid to Kansas business teachers and their college preparation, experience, and tenure, and to make a comparison of similar studies made since 1926-27.

Methods of Procedure

To obtain the data for this survey of the status of business education in Kansas for the school year 1969-70, the step-by-step method of procedure was as follows:

- 1. A copy of the High School Principal's Organization Report was studied to determine what kind of information was available.
- 2. Similar studies made in prior years were surveyed to determine what data had been gathered so that data of a similar nature could be compiled for comparative purposes.
- 3. Two work sheets, one for gathering information on the secondary school and one for gathering information on the business teachers,
 were designed to record the information. Copies of these two work sheets
 appear in Appendix A of this study. The type of data collected from the
 reports included the name, location, and classification of the high
 school, enrollment, number of teachers employed, and business subjects

offered. Information about teachers included subjects taught, years of experience, tenure, college preparation, and salaries.

- 4. Information was transferred from the principals' reports to the work sheets in the office of the State Department of Education at Topeka.
- 5. From these work sheets, the data were tabulated on columnar work sheets.
- 6. From these columnar sheets, tables in the form presented were prepared in order to make interpretations and draw conclusions as a result of this study.
- 7. Copies of other studies were obtained from libraries where they were on file.
- 8. Selected data from these previous studies were used to indicate trends and to make comparisons.

This chapter presented the major purposes of this study to determine the status of business education in Kansas secondary schools for the school year 1969-70. It also defined terms necessary to interpret the findings and explained the method of procedure.

Chapter 2

REVIEW OF RELATED LITERATURE

Numerous studies showing the status of business education in the secondary cchools in Kansas were made during the past forty-three years. These studies were of value in determining the trends in business education in the state of Kansas. Because of the kinds of information collected, methods of collecting this information, and changes in the classification and organization of schools, the data in all of these studies were not entirely comparable. However, in instances where comparisons could be made, data pertinent to this study were tabulated from these studies and used in the comparative tables included in this study in order to reveal the trends in business education in the secondary schools of Kansas for more than forty years.

The first two studies, one made by Adelaide Marie Kauzer and one made by F. P. OBrien, contained data for the school year 1926-27. Kauzer, surveying approximately 144 schools, collected the data for her study by using questionnaires, interviews, and information secured from the registrars of the College of Emporia and the Kansas State Teachers College of Emporia, Kansas. For this study, Kauzer classified the schools according to size. Her findings that showed the number of men and women business teachers, the number of schools offering each business subject, years of experience of each

business teacher, and their salaries were applicable to this study and were used in the sections that follow.

OBrien, collecting data for the same year, 1926-27, included data on 243 schools and 338 teachers. For his study, he divided these schools into two classifications, those schools with under 200 pupils and those schools with over 200 pupils. He tabulated data regarding the teaching experience of 338 teachers, their monthly salaries, the number of teachers with master's degrees, and the business subjects offered by the schools. OBrien used the questionnaire method of collecting the data for his study.²

E. L. Fink, using the reports of Kansas high school principals for the year 1930-31 on file in the office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction, included all 655 accredited classified Kansas high schools. Because he used the State Board of Education classification of A, B, C, and D in effect at that time, some of the data of his study were not comparable with this study. His findings that were applicable to this study included the number of men and women business teachers, the academic training of these teachers, the number of years of experience, and their salaries. 3

¹Adelaide Marie Kauzer, "Status of the Teaching of Shorthand and Typewriting in Secondary Public Schools of Kansas, 1926-27," Teaching, VII (April, 1928), 1-36.

²F. P. OBrien, "The Status of Business Courses in the High School," University of Kansas Bulletin of Education, II (October, 1978), 1-26.

³E. L. Fink, "Commercial Teachers and Commercial Education in Kansas High Schools" (unpublished Master's thesis, The University of Kansas, Lawrence, 1931), pp. 1-43.

C. W. Ridgway, also using the reports of Kansas high school principals, which, in some cases, were not complete, made an extensive survey of the status of all secondary school teachers in the state of Kansas for the year 1931, classifying them according to subject matter field. For his study, he included data on approximately five thousand teachers. His findings that were used in this study were the number of teaching fields, salaries, kinds of degrees, and years of experience. 1

Clara M. Snyder, using the questionnaire method in her study for the 1932-33 school year, collected data on business subjects offered in 246 Kansas secondary schools, the number of semesters the subjects were offered, grade placement, length of class periods, and textbooks. She also recorded data regarding the methods of devising business curricula by high school principals and opinions evaluating the objectives of the business curricula in meeting both the technical-vocational and social-business aims. She studied the schools as a whole and made no classification.²

Frank L. Irwin, taking data from the official reports of high school principals on file in the office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction in Topeka, analyzed the teaching programs of approximately fifty-two hundred high school teachers in Kansas. He omitted junior high school teachers where they could be identified but used information on teachers in secondary parochial schools in

¹C. W. Ridgway, "A Comparative Study of the Training and Teaching Combinations of Kansas High School Teachers" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1931), pp. 1-54.

²Clara M. Snyder, "A Survey of Commercial Curricula in the Secondary Schools of Kansas" (unpublished Master's thesis, Colorado State Teachers College, Greeley, 1933), pp. 1-61.

all of his tables except those on salaries. He collected data on teaching combinations, college preparation, kinds of degrees held, salaries and teaching field combinations. Comparable data from Irwin's study were used in this study.

Fred W. Doepke, collecting data for the entire state for 1934-35 and the south half of the state in 1937-38, used the information contained in the annual reports of the Kansas high school principals on file in the Office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction in Topeka. He included only public schools offering at least one business subject, but omitted parochial schools entirely. Since he analyzed the data according to the State Department's classification of schools as A, B, and C, only his findings that were pertinent to this study, which included tenure and experience of business teachers, their salaries, academic training, and teaching combinations, were used. 2

Elnora Frances Meier collected data on 1010 secondary school business teachers and on 716 schools from the annual high school principals' reports. Since her main objective was to present the status of the business curriculum in Kansas for the year 1940-41, Meier tabulated the number of schools offering each business course, the enrollment in each business subject, the grade placement of each

¹Frank L. Irwin, "A Comparative Study of the College Preparation, Teaching Combinations, and Salaries of Kansas High School Teachers," <u>Bulletin of Information</u> (Bulletin of the Graduate Division, Studies in Education, Vol. 18, No. 9, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, September, 1938), pp. 1-38.

²Fred W. Doepke, "Commercial Education in Kansas High Schools 1934-35 and 1937-38" (unpublished Master's thesis, The University of Kansas, Lawrence, 1931), pp. 1-71.

business subject, and the number of semesters for each business subject. She made comparisons of her study with that of Snyder, which was taken eight years previously. She classified the 716 schools as first, second, and third-class cities and included parochial schools.

A study by Ernest B. Gould undertook to analyze the status and trends of secondary business education in Kansas for the year 1942-43. He used all seven hundred of the secondary schools whose principals' reports were on file in the Office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction. He classified these seven hundred schools as A, B, C, and M so his findings can be compared only as a whole with this study. Gould's study contained information on business subject offerings, number of business teachers, the number of part-time and full-time business teachers, tenure and experience of teachers of business subjects, schools where business teachers received their training, number of business teachers holding master's degrees and schools that conferred the degrees, salary information of business teachers, and trends relevant to business teachers that he had observed. A portion of the data found in his study was used in this study for comparative purposes.²

Gene K. Lockard, making a study for the year 1945-46, undertook the analysis of the daily teaching programs of 4,262 high school

¹Elnora Frances Meier, "A Survey of Business Education in the Secondary Schools of Kansas" (unpublished Master's thesis, State University of Iowa, Iowa City, 1941), pp. 1-47.

²Ernest B. Gould, "An Analysis of Status and Trends of Business Education in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1942-43" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1944), pp. 1-154.

identified, were not included in the study. Teachers in the secondary parochial schools were used but were omitted from the table on salaries. He collected his data from the high school principals' reports on file in the office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction at Topeka. His report included teaching combinations, the number of men and women teachers, college preparation, kinds of degrees held, salaries, and teaching field combinations. A portion of Lockard's study was used for comparison with this study.

Kathryn Mary Iliff, using the data from the annual high school principals' reports, made a status study of teachers of business subjects in Kansas secondary schools for the year 1948-49. She also analyzed trends in the status of business teachers since the school year 1926-27. In her study, she included all public and non-public schools which had reports on file, but she did not include non-public schools in the tables on salaries. She collected information on the number of part-time and full-time business teachers, number of male and female teachers, teaching fields, teaching combinations, college preparation of business teachers, kinds of degrees held, teaching experience, tenure, and salaries. Where comparable, a portion of liff's study was used in this study.

¹Gene K. Lockard, "A Comparative Study of the College Preparation, Teaching Combinations, and Salaries of Kansas High School Administrators and Teachers" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1946), pp. 1-51.

²Kathryn Mary Iliff, "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Kansas Secondary Schools for 1948-49" (uppublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1950), pp. 1-133.

Fred W. Grabhorn, in his study to analyze the status of all secondary school teachers of business subjects in Kansas for the school year 1953-54 and to determine trends in their status covering a period of twenty-seven years, used the annual high school principals' reports which were on file in the office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction. All secondary schools were included in his report, including private and parochial schools. Grabhorn collected data on the classification and type of school, number of full-time and part-time men and women business teachers, number of administrators teaching business subjects, number of teaching fields in which teachers work, teaching combinations of business teachers, the business courses offered in Kansas secondary schools, types of degrees held by teachers of business subjects, teaching experience, tenure, and salaries of business teachers. A portion of his study was used for comparison with this study. 1

Froilan Flores, for the year 1953-54, made a study to furnish facts in regard to the current status and the trends in business offerings in Kansas secondary schools. The data obtained for this study were taken from the annual high school principals' reports on file in the office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction at Topeka. These data included business courses offered, the length of the various business courses and the number of semesters they were offered. 2

¹Fred W. Grabhorn, "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Secondary Schools of Kansas for 1953-54" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1954), pp. 1-107.

²Froilan Flores, "An Analysis of the Business Curriculum in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1953-54" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1954), pp. 1-90.

A study for the year 1956-57 was made by Charlene Fulton Jeffers to determine the status of the teachers of business subjects in the public high schools of Kansas. Omitting junior high schools, private schools, and parochial schools, she obtained data for her study from the microfilms of high school principals' reports and from transcripts on file in the office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction at Topeka. In instances where the transcripts were not on file at the Department of Public Instruction, she obtained information directly from the registrars of Kansas State Teachers College of Emporia, Kansas State Teachers College of Pittsburg, and Fort Hays Kansas State College. Her study included information on the number of business subjects offered, the number of men and women teachers, the kinds of degrees held, the teaching fields of business teachers, teaching combinations, salaries, and tenure. A portion of the data included in the Jeffers study was used for comparative purposes with this study.1

A more recent study was made by Judith DeBross for the school year 1962-63 in order to present available data to determine the status of business education in the secondary schools of Kansas, to compare the present status with previous findings, and to report any indicated trends over a period of thirty-six years beginning with the school year 1926-27 to the 1962-63 school year. She obtained the data for her study from the annual high school principals' reports on file in

¹ Charlene Fulton Jeffers, "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Kansas Secondary Schools for 1956-57" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1959), pp. 1-131.

the office of the State Superintendent of Public Instruction at Topeka. All secondary schools, state, and parochial schools, totaling 594, were included in the study, but non-public schools were left out of various tables if including the information would distort the figures. The ninth grades, if not a part of the high schools, were also included. Included in the DeBross study were data on business subjects offered in Kansas secondary schools, business courses that were added, dropped, or alternated but not offered in 1962-63, the number of part-time and full-time men and women teachers, the number of administrators teaching business courses, the teaching fields, teaching combinations, teaching experience and tenure, kinds of degrees held, and the salaries of business teachers in Kansas. For comparative purposes, it was the DeBross study which this study paralleled. 1

Because of the differences in the methods of classifying schools, much of the data presented in these prior studies were not directly comparable to this study; but in order to present trends in the status of business education in Kansas secondary schools for the last forty-three years, it was necessary that the data be used wherever comparisons could be made.

Judith Ann DeBross, "A Comparative Analysis of the Status of Business Education in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1962-63," (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1964), pp. 1-154.

Chapter 3

A COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF THE STATUS OF BUSINESS EDUCATION FROM 1926-27 TO 1969-70

Since businesses regularly made reviews of their business conditions and operations to determine if they were operating at top efficiency in order to compete in a highly complex business world, it seemed necessary that studies be made periodically of the status of the business curricula in Kansas in order to determine, likewise, if business educators were incorporating in their business curricula those procedures that business demands of its employees. This chapter shows the status of business education during the school year 1969-70 and makes comparative analyses of studies done since 1926-27.

School Classification

Table 1 shows the total number of secondary schools in Kansas that offered business courses during the school year 1969-70. Of the 503 schools offering business courses, 398 were classified as unified high schools, 32 as non-public schools, 6 as state and institutional schools, and 67 junior high schools which offered at least one business course. These aixty-seven junior high schools represented nearly sixty-three per cent of the total junior high schools, which included the ninth grade. When compared with the forty-four, representing fifty-five per cent in the DeBross study, these sixty-seven junior high schools indicated an additional eight per cent of the junior high schools

TABLE 1

KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS OFFERING A BUSINESS CURRICULUM
DURING 1969-70 BY SCHOOL CLASSIFICATION
AND LEGAL ORGANIZATION

		Sch	ool C	lassif	ication	1
Organization	Total	<u>A*</u>	C*	PA*	NPA*	JH*
Unified High Schools	398	305	91	1		
Non-public	32	21		2	9	
State and Institutional Schools	6	3		1	2	
Junior High	67			_		<u>67</u>
Totals	503	330	91	4	11	67

^{*}The abbreviations for the columnar headings are as foliows: A for Accredited schools, C for Comprehensive schools, PA for Provisional Accredited schools, NPA for Non-public Accredited schools, and JH for Junior High schools.

offered at least one business course. Table 1 also indicates 330 schools were accredited, 91 were comprehensive, 4 were provisional accredited, and 11 were non-public accredited.

The Fink study for the year 1930-31 showed that only 85.8 per cent of the 655 Kansas secondary schools offered at least one business subject. The Gould study of 1942-43 revealed that 97.4 per cent of 700 schools offered at least one business subject. Eleven years later in 1953-54, the Grabhorn study indicated that 98.6 per cent of the 654 secondary schools in Kansas offered at least one business course. Of the 594 senior high schools which had reports on file for the DeBross study in 1962-63, 99.3 per cent listed at least one business course. Since only one state school offered no business course, this study indicated that nearly one hundred per cent of all senior high schools offered at least one business course, making an additional fifteen per cent of the schools offering at least one business course since the 1930-31 survey of business education.

¹Judith Ann DeBross, "A Comparative Analysis of the Status of Business Education in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1962-63," (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1964), p. 22.

²E. L. Fink, "Commercial Teachers and Commercial Education in Kansas High Schools" (unpublished Master's thesis, The University of Kansas, Lawrence, 1931), p. 36.

³Ernest B. Gould, "An Analysis of Status and Trends of Business Education in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1942-43" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1944), p. 130.

⁴Fred W. Grabhorn, "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Secondary Schools of Kansas for 1953-54" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1954), p. 16.

⁵DeBross, op. cit., p. 22.

Business Curriculum

Table 2 shows business courses offered in Kansas secondary schools with Typewriting I, Bookkeeping I, and Shouthand I ranking first, second, and third respectively. Office practice and Typewriting II followed in fourth and fifth place, with Typewriting III and IV appearing low on the table. Typewriting I, Bookkeeping I, and Shorthand I had maintained their ranking of first, second, and third place in a number of studies made since the 1926-27 school year. Table 3 makes a comparison of the percentages of the twenty most frequently offered business courses as found in eight studies since 1926-27. The Fink report for 1930-31 showed Typewriting I being offered by nearly seventy-eight per cent of all classified Kansas high schools with business mathematica ranking fourth and Typewriting II ranking fifth, the same as this report. 1 The OBrien study in 1926-27 found Typewriting I offered in ninety per cent of all high schools, 2 By 1932-33, Typewriting I was offered in 98.7 per cent of the 246 Kansas high schools surveyed by the Snyder report. In that report, business mathematics ranked third, with 80.4 per cent of Kansas high schools offering it. 3 According to the Doepke study in 1937-38, general business had shown a marked gain of nearly fifty per cent. By that time penmanship, business spelling, and

¹Fink, op. cit., p. 20.

²F. P. OBrien, "The Status of Business Courses in the High School," <u>University of Fansas Bulletin of Education</u>, II (October, 1928), 9.

³Clara M. Snyder, "A Survey of Commercial Curricula in the Secondary Schools of Kansas" (unpublished Master's thesis, Colorado State Teachers College, Greeley, 1933), p. 13.

TABLE 2

BUSINESS COURSES OFFERED IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS
FOR THE SCHOOL YEAR 1969-70

	Sch	ool C	lassif	icatio	n.	
Subjects Offered	A	С	PA	NPA	JH	Total
Typewriting I	328	91	4	11	59	493
Bookkeeping I	316	90	3	8		417
Shorthand I	249	90	2	5		346
Office Practice	216	83	2	1		302
Typewriting II	193	68	2	5		268
General Business	103	50	1	5	23	182
Business Law	5 2	54		1		107
Business Mathematics	58	35				93
Business Economics	40	35			1	76
Shorthand II	26	32		1		59
Personal Typewriting	14	24				38
Bookkeeping II	12	24		1		37
Business English	17	19				36
Office Machines	13	18		1		32
Data Processing	12	10		1		23
Record Keeping	5	12				17
Business Principles	9	7				16
Salesmanship	1	12				13
Office Education	2	8				10
Notehand	2	5				7
Distributive Education		6				6
Marketing and						
Distribution	,	6	•			6
Computer Programming		5				
Retailing		5 3				3
Typewriting III	1	2				3
Stenoscript	1	1				2
Business Publications	2					2
Business Management	2					2
Penmanship		1				ī
Machine Shorthand	1					5 3 2 2 2 1 1
M&MI&II		1				1
Typewriting IV	1					<u> </u>

business geography had shown definite losses in offerings. 1 In this report, business spelling and business geography had disappeared from the list of offerings, with penmanship dropping to .2 per cent. Meier study of 1940-41 and the Gould study of 1942-43 both recorded the offering of personal typewriting, consumer business education, and retailing, subjects not listed on any of the earlier studies. Listed also in the Gould study were business art and combined distributive education. 2 In this study, consumer business education, retailing, business art, and combined distributive education were not subjects listed in the twenty most frequently offered business courses. 1942-43, the Gould study reported business machines offered in seven, or 1.0 per cent, of Kansas high schools. By way of comparison, this study showed that Kansas high schools offering business machines had risen to thirty-two, or 6.4 per cent. The Meier study of 1940-41 and the Gould study of 1942-43 indicated that 22 per cent and 23.9 per cent. respectively, of the schools were offering general business. The Grabhorn study in 1953-54 revealed that 17.9 per cent of the schools were offering general business, whereas this report showed that 36.2 per cent of Kansas high schools were offering general business, making an additional 18.3 per cent. Appearing for the first time on the Grabhorn study was office practice with 15.3 per cent of Kansas high schools offering it.

¹Fred W. Doepke, "Commercial Education in Kansas High Schools 1934-35 and 1937-38" (unpublished Master's thesis, The University of Kansas, Lawrence, 1931), p. 38.

²Gould, op. cit., p. 25.

³Ibid., p. 23.

A COMPARISON OF THE PERCENTAGES OF THE TWENTY MOST FREQUENTLY OFFERED BUSINESS COURSES IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS AS FOUND IN EIGHT STUDIES SINCE 1926-1927

TABLE 3

	Kauzer	Fink	Snyder	Meier	Gould	Grabhorn	DeBross	Edwards
	1926-	1930~	1932-	1940-	1942-	1953	1962-	1969-
Subject	1927	1931	1933	1941	1943	1954	1963	1970
Typewriting I	87.5	77.9	98.7	97.3	96.1	95.8	92.3	98.0
Bookkeeping I	86.8	63.5	95.5	72.3	68.7	74.6	76.9	32.9
Shortband I	68.1	40.8	74.3	57.8	67.0	58.5	60 .2	68.8
Office Practice						15.3	39.2	60.0
Typewriting II	59.0	31.6	62.2	62.8	65.9	51.6	46.9	53.2
General Business	6.0		22.0	22.0	23.9	17.9	22.0	36.2
Business Law	56.9	16.6	63.0	27.5	19.7	9.7	12.0	21.3
Business Mathematics	72.2	37.3	80.4	36.0	27.3	18.1	14.1	18.5
Business Economics	•		1.4	1.4	1.1	1.0	11.0	15.1
Shorthand II	39.6	11.8	31.7	15.1	15.9	15.1	9.0	11.7
Personal Typewriting				0.1	0.6	0.2	4.6	7.6
Bookkeeping I	12.5	4.3	16.3	6.8	5.1	4.4	1.7	7.4
Business English	14.6		17.4	3.5	5.0	2.4	4.5	7.2
Business Machines	1.4			0.6	1.0	0.2	2.2	6.4
Data Processing								4.6
Record Keeping								3.4
Salesmanship	13.2		23.5	2.2	2.4	2.8	2.8	2.6
Office Education						•		2.0
Notehand								1.4
Penmanship and Spelling	55.6	13.9	36.5	6.0	3.3	2.9	0.7	. 2

study ravealed that 50 per cent of the high schools in 1969-70 offered it, making an additional 45 per cent of the schools offering office practice in sixteen years. Also appearing for the first time were data processing, record keeping, office education, and notehand. Dropped from the list in this study were work experience, business geography, and secretarial practice, which was combined with office practice.

Business geography did not even appear in any business course offerings of any Kansas high school.

The twenty courses listed in Table 4 shows the courses in the curricula of the secondary schools which were either added, dropped, or alternated but not offered during the 1969-70 school year. Some schools did not find it practical to offer business courses every year and used, instead, the method of alternating the courses every other year. Office practice and Shorthand I were the two courses most often alternated. General business was most frequently added, with forty-one schools adding and only three dropping, making a total increase of thirty-eight schools offering general business for that year. Data processing appeared, with ten schools adding and one school dropping. Business mathematics was added by fourteen schools and dropped by wine for a total increase of five. In the 1962-63 study made by DeBross, Shorthand I and Bookkeeping I were the two courses most often alternated. That study reported twenty schools adding and nine schools dropping general business, for an increase of eleven schools offering general business in the 1962-63 school year. Her report also showed fifteen schools siding business mathematics and twelve dropping, an increase of three.1

¹DeBross, op. cit., p. 25.

TABLE 4

BUSINESS COURSES THAT WERE ADDED, DROPPED, OR ALTERNATED
BUT NOT OFFERED IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS
IN 1969-70

			Alternated but
Course	Added	Dropped	not Offered
Business Economics	28	21	8
Office Practice	21	16	14
General Business	41	3	6
Shorthand I	17	11	11
Business Law	14	17	7
Typewriting II	22	11	2
Business Mathematics	14	9	4
Bookkeeping I	5	2	5
Data Processing	10	1	
Shorthand II	4	3	2
Business English	6		2
Office Machines	5	2	1
Bookkeeping II	3	3	2
Typewriting I	6	1	
Business Principles	4	1	
Personal Typewriting	4	1	
Record Keeping	2		
Salesmanship		1	
Business Publications	1		
Stenoscript	1		

Classification of Teachers

Table 5 shows the number of part-time and full-time business teachers in Kansas secondary schools for the school year 1969-70. A full-time business teacher taught at least three classes of business subjects and was employed as a teacher for the total school day. A part-time business teacher taught at least one or two business subjects and the remainder of his teaching assignment was made up of subjects outside the business curriculum, or he taught at least one or two business subjects and was not employed for the entire school day. Also included in Table 5 are those teachers who were part-time business teachers and acted in an administrative capacity. Of the 805 full-time business teachers, 328 males represented 40.74 per cent of all full-time business teachers and 477 females represented 59.26 per cent of all full-time business teachers. The 805 full-time business teachers represented 83.16 per cent of the total 968 business teachers. Part-time male business teachers totaled 71, which was 45.51 per cent of the total part-time business teachers. Eighty-five part-time female teachers represented 54.49 per cent of the total 156 part-time business teachers. There were seven part-time and administrative business teachers, all of which were male. Of the 968 full-time and part-time business teachers in Kansas secondary schools, 406, or 41.94 per cent were males and 562, or 58.06 per cent, were females.

Table 6 shows a comparison of part-time and full-time male and female business teachers in Kansas secondary schools as shown by six studies from 1942-43 to 1969-70. These studies were made by Gould, Iliff, Grabhorn, Jeffers, and DeBross, covering a period of twenty-seven

TABLE 5

NUMBER OF PART-TIME AND FULL-TIME TEACHERS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS FOR 1969-70

Classification		Per		Per		Per
of Teachers	Male	cent	Female	Cent	Total	Cent
Full -Time	3 28	40.74	477	59.26	805	83.16
Part -Time	71	45.51	85	54.49	156	16.11
Part-Time and Administrative	7	100.00			7	.72
Total Part-Time	78	47.85	85	52.15	163	16.84
Totals	406	41.94	562	58.06	968	100.00

years, including this study. In the 1942-43 study made by Gould, 27.9 per cent of the total 880 business teachers were male and 71.9 per cent were female, or 44 per cent more female business teachers than male. Six years later in 1948-49, this margin narrowed to 33.5 per cent in the Iliff study and to 10 per cent in the Grabhorn study for the school year 1953-54. Iliff reported that the Kauzer report in 1926-27 showed nearly the same percentages, 34.5 per cent males and 65.49 per cent females, as in her report twenty-two years later. In the Jeffers study in 1956-57, male business teachers held a three per cent lead over female teachers. 2 In 1962-63, the percentage of male teachers to female teachers was nearly equal, with 489 males, or 49.4 per cent of the total, compared to 500 females, or 50.6 per cent of the total business teachers in Kansas secondary schools. This study showed the female business teachers leading by 156, or 16.2 per cent. During the twenty-seven years covered by this table, the number of female business teachers decreased from 636 to 562 and the number of male business teachers increased from 244 to 406.

Table 7 shows the number of part-time and full-time male and female business teachers in Kansas secondary schools in 1969-70 according to sex and legal organization. Of the 383 male business teachers in the

¹Kathryn Mary Iliff, "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Kansas Secondary Schools for 1948-49" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1950), p. 18.

²Charlene Fulton Jeffers, "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Kansas Secondary Schools for 1956-57 (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1959, p. 18.

DeBross, op. cit., p. 98.

TABLE 6

A COMPARISON OF PART-TIME AND FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE BUSINESS
TEACHERS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS AS SHOWN BY SIX
STUDIES FROM 1942-43 TO 1969-70

	Ful1	-Time	Part	-Time	Tot	al	
Previous Studies	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Both
Gould, 1942-43*	214	539	30	97	244	636	088
Percentage	28.2	71.1	26.2	72.3	27.9	71.9	
Iliff, 1948-49	234	480	42	76	276	556	832
Percentage	32.8	67.2	35.6	64.4	33.2	66.8	
Grabhorn, 1953-54	329	451	90	60	419	511	930
Percentage	42.1	57.9	60.0	40.0	45.0	55.0	
Jeffers, 1956-57 Percentage					433 51.5	407 48.5	840
DeBross, 1962-63	396	423	93	77	489	500	989
Percentage	48.4	51.6**	54.7	45•3	49.4	50.6	
Edwards, 1969-70	328	477	78	85	406	562	968
Percentage	40.7	59.3	47.9	52.1	41.9	58.1	

^{*}The sex of seven teachers in the Gould report could not be determined from the principal's report.

^{**} Error in DeBross study corrected.

unified school districts, 315 were full time and 68 were part time; of the 522 female teachers, 448 were full time and 74 were part time. Of the fifty-five non-public school business teachers, there were eleven full-time male business teachers and eight part-time male teachers. In this same category, there were twenty-six full-time female business teachers and ten part-time female teachers. State schools had a total of eight business teachers; of these, two were full-time and two were part-time male teachers; three were full-time and one was a part-time female teacher. Of the 968 business teachers in Kansas, 905, or 93.49 per cent, were employed by unified districts; 55, or 5.63 per cent, were employed in non-public schools; and 8, or .83 per cent, were employed by state schools.

Table 8 classifies teachers according to the school's legal organization. Accredited schools, which represented 65.6 per cent of the Kansas secondary schools included in this study, employed 49.9 per cent of the total number of business teachers; comprehensive schools, representing 18.1 per cent of the schools, employed 39.5 per cent of the teachers; schools classified as provisional represented .8 per cent of the schools and employed .5 per cent of the teachers; non-public accredited represented 2.2 per cent of the schools and employed 1.5 per cent of the business teachers; junior high schools which offered business subjects represented 13.1 per cent of the schools used in this report and employed 8.7 per cent of the business teachers.

Teaching Fields

Table 9 indicates that 77.8 per cent of all business teachers taught in only one teaching field; 18.4 per cent taught in two teaching

PART- AND FULL-TIME BUSINESS TEACHERS IN KANSAS SECONDARY
SCHOOLS IN 1969-70 ACCORDING TO SEX
AND LEGAL ORGANIZATION

Legal Organi-	Fu1	1 Time	Part	Time		Total	-			
zation	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Both	Percent		
Unified	315	448	68	74	383	52 2	905	93.49		
Non-Public	11	26	8	10	19	36	55	5.68		
State	2	3	2	1	4	4	8	.83		
Total	328	477	78	85	406	562	968	100.00		

TABLE 8

MALE AND FEMALE PART- AND FULL-TIME BUSINESS TEACHERS
IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS IN 1969-70
BY SCHOOL CLASSIFICATION

School	Full	Time	Part	Time		Totals	
Classification	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Both
Accredited	145	237	51	50	196	287	483
Percentage	44.2	49.7	65.4	58.8	48.3	51.1	49.9
Comprehensive	158	193	14	17	172	210	382
Percentage	48.2	40.5	17.9	20.0	42.4	37.4	39.5
Provisional	1	2	2	C	3	2.	5
Percentage	.3	.4	2.6	.0	.7	.4	.5
Non-Public							
Accredited	4	4	4	2	8	6	14
Percentage	1.2	.8	5.1	2.4	2.0	1.1	1.5
Junior High	20	41	7	16	27	57	84
Percentage	6.1	8.6	9.0	18.8	6.7	10.1	8.7
Total	328	477	78	85	406	562	968
Percentage	33.9	49.3	8.0	8.8	41.9	58.1	100.0

fields: 2.6 per cent taught in three fields; and 1.2 per cent taught in four fields. The OBrien study for the year 1926-27 showed that, in smaller schools, more than half of the business teachers taught one or more non-business subjects. In that same study, only one out of seven of the teachers in the larger high schools taught one or more nonbusiness subjects. In the 1931-32 study, Ridgway found fifty-eight per cent taught in two fields, twelve per cent taught in three fields, and four per cent taught in four fields. 2 In 1938. Irwin reported that sixty-six per cent taught in one field; twenty-three per cent taught in two fields; eight per cent, in three fields; and three per cent, in four fields. 3 The Lockard study in 1945-46 showed sixty-two per cent teaching business only, twenty-six per cent in two fields, ten per cent in three fields, and two per cent in four fields. 4 The Iliff study in 1948-49 showed 57.4 per cent taught in only one field, 30.6 per cent taught in two fields, 11.6 per cent taught in three fields, and .5 per cent taught in four fields. 5 Grabhorn, in 1953-54, found 57 per cent

¹OBrien, op. cit., p. 20.

²C. W. Ridgway, "A Comparative Study of the Training and Teaching Combinations of Kansas High School Teachers" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1931), p. 32.

³Frank L. Irwin, "A Comparative Study of the College Preparation, Teaching Combinations, and Salaries of Kansas High School Teachers," Bulletin of Information, (Bulletin of the Graduate Division, Studies in Education, Vol. 18, No. 9, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, September, 1938), p. 21.

Gene K. Lockard, "A Comparative Study of the College Preparation, Teaching Combinations and Salaries of Kansas High School Administrators and Teachers" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1946), p. 33.

⁵Iliff, op. cit., p. 26.

NUMBER OF TEACHING FIELDS IN WHICH KANSAS SECONDARY
SCHOOL BUSINESS TEACHERS WORK
BY SCHOOL CLASSIFICATION

Classification	,	reachin	g Fiel	ds	
of Schools	1	2	3	4	Total
Accredited	332	121	22	8	483
Comprehensive	343	35	1	3	382
Provisional Accredited	3	2			5
Non-Public Accredited	8	4	1	1	14
Junior High	67	16	1		84
Total	753	178	25	12	968

taught business subjects exclusively, 37.6 per cent taught in two, 5.2 per cent taught in three, and .13 per cent taught in four fields. The Jeffers study revealed that 65.8 per cent of the teachers taught in only one field. 2 In 1962-63, the DeBross study showed 70.9 per cent of the full-time teachers taught in only one field, 25.2 per cent taught in two. 3.9 per cent taught in three, and no teacher taught in more than three fields. 3 A comparison of these previous studies with this study indicated an increase in the percentage of teachers teaching in only one field and showed a decrease in the percentage of teachers teaching in more than one field. Since 1931, the percentage of teachers teaching in one field had increased from 58 per cent to 77.8 per cent. The percentage of teachers teaching in two fields had decreased from 24 per cent in 1931 to 18.4 per cent in 1969-70; the percentage of teachers teaching in three fields had decreased from 12 per cent in 1931 to 2.6 per cent in 1969-70; and the percentage of teachers teaching in four fields had decreased from 4 per cent in 1931 to 1.2 per cent in 1969-70.

Table 10 reports the frequency of teaching fields that were taught with business courses by full-time business teachers in Kansas secondary schools. Physical education with business was the most common teaching combination of eighteen males and two females, for a total of 2.48 per cent of the total business teachers. A total of thirteen business teachers, seven male and six female, taught in the social science field. English

¹Grabhorn, op. cit., p. 26.

²Jeffers, op. cit., p. 53.

DeBross, op. cit., p. 36.

and yearbook were the most popular fields for women, with eight and seven teachers, respectively, teaching in these fields. The second most popular teaching field for male teachers was drivers education, with eight teachers. No female business teacher taught drivers education for the school year 1969-70.

The most frequent teaching fields in combination with business for a period of thirty-nine years is shown by Table 11. In the top five positions covered by this period, ten different teaching fields appeared. This number was two more fields than shown in the comparative table in the DeBross study of 1962-63. Social science appeared in the first and second positions in five of the seven studies and appeared in the third position in two of the studies. The Iliff study of 1948-49 and the Grabhorn study of 1953-54 showed physical education as the most popular teaching combination, as did this study in 1969-70. Library, which was listed for the first time in the DeBross study, dropped from fifth place and was replaced by yearbook and drivers education, which appeared for the first time in any of the seven studies. Home economics, as a second teaching field, appeared in fifth place in four of the studies but failed to rank in the top five of this report.

Table 12 presented the teaching field combinations of 163 parttime business teachers in Kansas secondary schools during the school year 1969-70. Sixty part-time business teachers taught business only, with

¹Ibid., p. 104.

²Iliff, op. cit., p. 32.

³Grabhorn, op. cit., p. 25.

TABLE 10

FREQUENCY OF TEACHING FIELDS THAT WERE TAUGHT WITH BUSINESS COURSES BY FULL-TIME BUSINESS TEACHERS
IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS

				Per Cent of
Teaching Field	Male	Female	Total	Total Teachers
Physical Education	18	2	20	2.48
Social Science	7	6	13	1.61
English	í	8	9	1.12
Drivers Education	8	•	8	.99
Yearbook	ĺ	7	8	.99
Journalism	2	5	7	.87
Mathematics	3	3	6	.74
Library	1	5	6	.74
Publications	ī	4	5	.62
Speech	_	4	4	.50
Language		3	3	.37
Guidance	2	1		.37
Psychology	2	1	3 3	.37
Physical Education, Health	3		3	.37
Home Economics		2	2	.25
Music		1	1	.12
Bible Literature		1	1	.12
Aviation		1	1	.12
Library, Social Science		1	1	.12
Psychology, Health, Physical				
Education		1	1	.12
Mathematics, Social Science		1	1	.12
Psychology, Social Science	1		1	.12
Drivers Education, Publications		1	1	.12
Spelling, Geography		1	1	.12
Social Science, Religion		1	1	.12
English, Mathematics		1	1	.12
Religion		1	1	.12

TABLE 11

A COMPARISON OF TEACHING FIELDS MOST FREQUENTLY TAUGHT IN COMBINATION WITH BUSINESS COURSES
AS SHOWN BY SEVEN STUDIES SINCE 1930-31

Rank	Ridgway 1930-31	1rwin 1937-38	Lockard 1945-46	111ff 1948-49	Grabho rn 1953-54	DeBross 1962-63	Edwards 1969-70
lst	Social Science	Mathematics	Social Science	Physical Education	Physical Education	Social Science	Physical Education
2nd	Mathematics	Social Science	English	English	Mathematics	English and Speech	Social Science
3rd	English	English	Mathematics	Social Science	Social Science	Physical Education	English
4th	Science	Science	Physical Education	Mathematics	English	Mathematics	Drivers Education
5th	Home Economics	Home Economics	Science	Home Economics	Home Economics	Library	Yearbook

the most popular teaching field combinations being English, mathematics, and social science, which ranked first, second, and third respectively. Mathematics and social science were most often taught by male business teachers, with female business teachers favoring English. Some part-time business teachers taught in as many as three other fields. This fact was also reported in the DeBross study in 1962-63. In comparison with the DeBross study, this study showed an increase of fourteen part-time business teachers who taught business only. The most popular second teaching field in the DeBross study was social science, with English and speech appearing next. Mathematics ranked second for part-time business teachers in this study, but ranked third in the DeBross study in 1962-63.

The teaching field combinations of full-time business teachers in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70 are shown in Table 13. Of the 805 full-time business teachers, 693, or 86 per cent, taught business only. Of these 693 teachers, 278 were male and 415 were female. The most popular teaching field was physical education with social science coming next and English appearing third. The DeBross study showed social science, first; English and speech, second; and physical education, third.²

Course Combinations

Table 14 shows the twelve most frequently found teaching combinations of business courses for full-time business teachers in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70. Of the 805 full-time business teachers,

¹DeBross, op. cit., pp. 41-45.

²Ibid., p. 43.

TABLE 12

TEACHING FIELD COMBINATIONS OF PART-TIME BUSINESS TEACHERS
IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

				ALE						MALE		•	<u> </u>
Teaching Field		tion	School Classification					GRANI					
Combination	<u>A</u>	С	PA_	NPA	JH	Total	<u>A</u>	<u> </u>	PA	NPA	JH_	TOTAL	IATOT
Business Only	9	3		1	3	16	23	8		1	12	44	6 0
Business and													
English	4	1				5	7	5			2	14	19
Mathematics	9	1			3	13	4					4	17
Social Science	4	6				10	1	1				2	12
Library			1			1	4			1		5	6
Physical Education, Health	2					2	2					2	4
Guidance	2					2	2					2	4
Language	2 1			1		2		2				2	4
Psychology, Social Science	2	1				3							3
Physical Education	2		1			3							3
Home Economics							2				1	3	3
Social Science, Science,													
Mathematics	3					3							3
Art					1	1	1				1	2	3
Industrial Arts	1	1				2							2
Psychology, Guidance	1					1							1
Science, Mathematics	1					1							1
English, Psychology							1					1	1
Music, Psychology	1					1							1
English and Speech							1					1	1

TABLE 12 (continued)

				ALE					MALE			
Teaching Field	S	choo	1 C1	assifi.	cation		School Classification					GRAND
Combination	<u>A</u>	C	PA	NPA J	H Total	<u>A</u>	<u>c</u>	PA	NPA	JH	Total	TOTAL
English, Social Science,												
Science							1				1	1
Social Science, Physical												
Education, Psychology	1				1							1
Psychology, Physical												
Education	1				1							1
Drivers Education, Mathematics,												
Mechanical Drawing	1				1							1
Health	1				1							1
Science	1				1							1
Drivers Education	1				1.							1
Social Science, Guidance												
Psychology	1				1							1
Drivers Education, Health	1				1							1
Music		1			1							1
Religion				1	1							1
English, Language						1					1	1
Physical Education, Health,												
Mechanical Drawing	1				1							1
Physical Education, Health,												
Social Science				1	1							1
Psychology, Mathematics						1					1	1

TABLE 13

TEACHING FIELD COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME BUSINESS TEACHERS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70 BY SCHOOL CLASSIFICATION (Including non-public teachers)

			MAL	E					FEMA	LE			
Teaching Field	School Classification							School Classification					GRAND
Combination	<u>A</u>	С	PA	MPA	JH	<u>Total</u>	A	<u> </u>	PA	NPA	JH	Total	TOTAL
Business only	108	149	1	4	16	278	192	183	2	2	36	415	693
Business and:													
Physical Education	16	2				18	2					2	20
Social Science	3	2			2	7	4	1			1	6	13
English					1	1	2	4			2	8	9
Drivers Education	6	2				8							8
Yearbook	1					1	6	1				7	8
Journalism	2					2	4	1				5	7
Mathematics		2			1	3	2	1				3	6
Library	1					1	5					5	6
Publications	1					1	4					4	5
Speech						0	4					4	4
Language						0	2			1		3	3
Guidance	2					2	1					1	3
Psychology	1	1				2	1					1	3
Physical Education													
Health	3					3							3
Home Economics						0	1.				1	2	2
Music						Ō	1					1	1.
Bible Literature						0	1					1	1
Aviation						0		1.				1	1

TABLE 13 (continued)

	MALE School Classification					n	Sc	hoo1	FEMA Clas	LE sific	atio	n	GRAND
	A	Ç	PA	NPA	JH	Total_	A	С	PA	NPA	JH	Total	TOTAL
Library, Social													
Science						0	1					1	1
Psychology, Health													
Physical Education						0	1					1	1
Mathematics, Social						_		_				_	_
Science						0		1				1	1
Psychology, Social	•					•						0	,
Science	1					T						C	i
Drivers Education, Fublications						0	1					1	1
Spelling, Geography						0	-				1	3	1
Social Science,						•					_	**	***
Religion						0	1					1	1
English, Mathematics						Ō				1		1	1
Religion						0	1					1	1

87, or 10.8 per cent, taught typewriting only. Of these 87 teachers, 55 were female and 32 were male. Sixty-two teachers, or 7.7 per cent, taught a combination of typewriting, bookkeeping, shorthand, and office practice. Fifty-two teachers, or 6.4 per cent, taught a combination of typewriting, bookkeeping, and shorthand. The twelve teaching combinations included a total of 406, or 50.4 per cent, of all full-time business teachers. Seventy-nine per cent of the full-time business teachers in the 1948-49 Iliff study taught in thirteen business subject combinations. 1 The Grabborn study for 1953-54 found over seventy per cent of the full-time business teachers included in fourteen subject combinations. 2 Both Iliff in 1948-49³ and Grabhorn in 1953-54⁴ found that the first four subject combinations taught most frequently were typewriting, shorthand, and bookkeeping listed as first, next was typewriting and bookkeeping, third was typewriting and shorthand, and fourth was typewriting only. In 1962-63, the DeBross study also found typewriting, shorthand, and bookkeeping the most popular teaching combination. Placing second was typewriting, bookkeeping, shorthand, and office practice in that study; typewriting and bookkeeping was third, and typewriting only was fourth. This study showed typewriting only moving up from fourth place in the DeBross study to first place. Typewriting, bookkeeping, shorthand, and

¹Iliff, op. cit., p. 33.

²Grabhorn, op cit., p. 30.

³Iliff, op. cit., p. 36.

Grabhorn, op cit., p. 31.

⁵DeBross, op. cit., p. 46.

TABLE 14

TWELVE MOST FREQUENTLY FOUND TEACHING COMBINATIONS OF BUSINESS COURSES FOR FULL-TIME BUSINESS TEACHERS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

Course Combination	Male	Female	Total
*Typewriting	32	55	87
*Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand,			
Office Practice	14	48	62
*Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand	11	41	52
**Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice	12	28	40
*Typewriting, Bookkeeping	23	9	32
*Typewriting, Shorthand	8	20	28
*Typewriting, General Business	6	21	27
**Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice	12	9	21.
*Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business	17	4	21
*Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand,			_
General Business	4	9	13
**Typewriting, Office Practice	5	8	13
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice,	-	-	
General Business	3	7	10

^{*}Indicates these combinations which also appeared in Iliff's study of 1948-49, Grabhorn's study of 1953-54, and DeBross' study of 1962-63.

^{**}Indicates these combinations which appeared in DeBross' study of 1962-63.

office practice remained in second place in this study. Typewriting, bookkeeping, and shorthand fell from first place in the DeBross study to third place in this study.

Experience and Tenure

Table 15 shows the total teaching experience of all business teachers in Kansas during 1969-70 school year, excluding the non-public teachers. From information on the principals' reports, there was no way to determine if the years of experience was all in the business Table 15 shows that 98, or 12.84 per cent, of the 763 full-time public business teachers were in their first year of teaching. This figure is 2.84 per cent more than that shown by the DeBross study seven years earlier; but this report showed that 40, or 5.24 per cent, were in their fourth year of teaching; whereas, the DeBross study indicated that 60, or 6.4 per cent were in their fourth year of teaching. According to the DeBross study, approximately one third dropped from the teaching profession after four years. This study showed that approximately one half dropped from the teaching profession after their fourth year. The biggest drop was between the third and fourth years of teaching, with a drop of about one third. Those business teachers with from one to five years of experience constituted the largest group with 286, or 37.48 per cent. The next largest group, totaling 132, or 17.3 per cent, were those business teachers with six to ten years of experience. Thirty-five business teachers, or 4.59 per cent, had taught for over thirty years, with 6 of these teachers teaching over 40 years. DeBross reported 76, or 8.1 per cent, who had over thirty years of

TABLE 15

TEACHING EXPERIENCE OF FULL-TIME BUSINESS TEACHERS
IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS FOR 1969-70
(Excluding non-public teachers)

Years of Experience	Male	Per Cent	Female	Per Cent	Total	Per Cent
First Year	31	9.87	67	14.95	98	12.84
1	25	7.94	59	13.16	84	11.01
2	26	8.25	46	10.29	72	9.44
3	15	4.76	35	7.81	50	6.55
4	15	4.76	25	5.58	40	5.24
5	26	8.25	14	3.12	40	5.24
First Year	31	9.87	67	14.95	98	12.84
1 to 5	107	33.96	179	39.96	286	37.48
6 to 10	68	21.58	64	14.28	132	17.30
11 to 15	48	15.23	46	10.27	94	12.32
16 to 20	30	9.52	22	4.91	52	6.82
21 to 25	11	3.49	15	3.35	26	3.41
26 to 30	5	1.59	31	6.92	36	4.72
Over 30	12	3.81	17	3.79	29	3.80
Over 40	1	.32	5	1.12	6	.79
Not Given		63	2	45	4	.52
Total	315	100.00	448	100.00	763	100.00

teaching experience, including 18, or 1.9 per cent, with forty years of experience. This study found one non-public business teacher having fifty-nine years of teaching experience.

In this study the median experience for all business teachers was six years; the median experience for males was six years and five years for females. The Kauzer study in 1926-27 showed that 18.2 per cent of the business teachers were in their first year of teaching, 5.4 per cent more than the percentage found in this study. Her report showed that the median experience was five years. 2 The OBrien report of that same year indicated that the average teaching experience was five years in large schools and two years in small schools. The median was five years for all business teachers. Fink, in his study for 1930-31, found that, of the 911 teachers teaching one or more business subject, the median experience was 3.08 years. Doepke, in his study for 1937-38, reported that forty-eight per cent had less than seven years of experience. He reported that twenty-four per cent of the teachers were in their first year of teaching, fifteen per cent in their second year, and twelve per cent in their third year. 5 Gould, in his report for 1942-43, found that the median experience for women was seven years; for men it was eleven years, with a median experience of nine years for

¹ Ibid., pp. 49-50.

²Adelaide Marie Kauzer, "Status of the Teaching of Shorthand and Typewriting in Secondary Public Schools of Kansas, 1926-27," Teaching, VII (April, 1928), p. 24.

³OBrien, op. cit., p. 20.

Fink, op. cit., p. 29.

⁵Doepke, op. cit., pp. 58-60.

both. 1 Iliff. in her study for the year 1948-49, found that 29.4 per cent of the teachers were in their first year of teaching. She found that many female teachers do not stay in the profession for more than a year. The greatest percentage of decrease for female teachers occurred between the first and second years. She found that sixty-five per cent of all business teachers had more then five years of experience. According to her report, by the time business teachers reached the fifth year of teaching, a little over half of them had left the profession. The median experience for all teachers in 1948-49 was nine years. The median for male teachers was eight and the median for female teachers was ten years. 2 Grabhorn, in his study for the school year 1953-54, found 7.0 per cent of all business teachers were in their first year of teaching. He also found that 38.2 per cent of all teachers of business subjects had from one to five years of experience and 61.8 per cent had more than five years of experience. The median years of experience for males was eight years, for females the median was eleven years, and for all teachers of business subjects, the median was nine years. 3 The DeBross study for the year 1962-63 indicated that 9.9 per cent of 932 business teachers were teaching for the first time and that 8.1 per cent had completed over thirty years of teaching. Of all business teachers, 40.5 per cent were in the one to five year group.

¹Gould, op. cit., pp. 107-112.

²Iliff, op. cit., pp. 78-86.

³Grabhorn, op. cit., pp. 61-64.

median experience for the 1962-63 school year was seven years for males, nine years for females, and seven years for all business teachers. I

In comparing the median years of experience, the following shows the medians reported in previous studies made since 1926-27:

Median Years of Experience

	Male	<u>Female</u>	Both
Kauzer (1926-27)			5
OBrien (1926-27)			5
Fink (1930-31)			3.08
Gould (1942-43)	11	7	9
Iliff (1948-49)	8	10	9
Grabhorn (1953-54)	8	11	9
DeBross (1962-63)	7	9	7
Edwards (1969-70)	6	5	6

The median was five years in 1926-27, reached a high of nine years as shown by the studies of Gould in 1942-43, Iliff in 1948-49, and Grabhorn in 1953-54. The DeBross study in 1962-63 showed a decrease of two years, and this study showed another decrease of one year, falling to a median of six years in the year 1969-70. The median years of experience of males fell five years in the twenty-seven years from 1942-43 to 1969-70. In the same period of time, the median years of experience for females fell only two years. This decrease in the median years of experience indicated that teachers may have left the teaching profession for other careers.

Table 16 presents information on the number of years business teachers have remained in their present positions for the school year

DeBross, op. cit., pp. 49-51.

TABLE 16

TENURE OF BUSINESS TEACHERS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS IN 1969-70 (Excluding non-public teachers)

Years	Males	Per Cent	Females	Per Cent	Total	Per Cent
First Year	71	18.5	141	27.0	212	23.4
2	49	12.9	86	16.5	135	14.9
3	45	11.7	46	8.8	91	10.1
4	36	9.4	42	8.1	78	8.6
5	18	4.7	27	5.2	45	5.0
1 to 5	219	57.2	342	65.7	561	62.0
6 to 10	62	16.2	73	14.0	135	14.9
11 to 15	41	10.7	40	7.6	81	9.0
16 to 20	19	5.0	19	3.6	38	4.2
21 to 25	9	2.3	12	2.3	21	2.3
26 to 30	10	2.6	12	2.3	22	2.4
Over 30	0		5	.9	5	,6
Not Given	23	<u>6.0</u>	<u>19</u>	3.6	<u> 42</u>	4.6
Totals	383	100.0	522	100.0	905	130.0

Non-public teachers were excluded from this table. Almost 1969-70. one fourth of the 905 business teachers, 23.4 per cent, were in their first year of tenure. This figure included ninety-eight beginning The greatest number of females, or 27.0 per cent of these teachers, were in their first year of tenure, in contrast with the 18.5 per cent of the male teachers who were in their first year. Over sixty per cent of the business teachers had a tenure of five years or less in their 1969-70 positions. Only 5.3 per cent of all business teachers had taught more than twenty years in the same position. Five teachers had taught over thirty years, all of whom were women. Three teachers, all women, had taught for forty-one years in the same position. Fortyone years was the longest tenure of any business teacher found in any public school in the 1969-70 school year. The greatest difference between male and female business teachers was in the one to five year group, a difference of 8.5 per cent more females. The median years of tenure for male business teachers was four years; for females, the median tenure was three years; and for all business teachers, the median was four years.

When the tenure of business teachers of 1969-70 was compared with previous studies made since 1930-31, a gradual increase in tenure was indicated. The Fink study in 1930-31 showed that the median tenure was two years. In 1942-43, Gould found the median tenure was two years for females, three years for males, and two years for all business

¹Fink, op. cit., p. 30.

teachers. His study showed 74 per cent of all teachers of business subjects had less than six years of tenure. The Iliff study in 1948-49 found the median tenure was two years for both males and females and for all teachers of business subjects. She found over three fourths of all business teachers, or 76.7 per cent, had a tenure of five years or less in their 1948-49 positions. 2 Grabhorn, in his study for 1953-54. found the median tenure for all teachers of business subjects was three years and applied to both males and females. Sixty-nine per cent of all teachers of business subjects had completed less than six years of tenure. 3 The DeBross study in 1969-70 showed the median years of tenure for male business teachers was three years, four years for females, and three years for all business teachers. She found that 63.5 per cent of all teachers of business subjects had five years or less of tenure.4 In comparison, this study showed 62.0 per cent of all business teachers had tenure of five years or less, a decline from 74 per cent in 1942-43 to 62.0 per cent in 1969-70. This gradual increase in tenure indicated a tendency for more permanency in teaching positions.

Teacher Preparation

According to prior studies, the number of teachers who have received advanced degrees had steadily increased since Kauzer's study of

¹ Gould, op. cit., p. 107.

²Iliff, op. cit., pp. 86-91.

³Grabhorn, op. cit., pp. 67-68.

DeBross, op. cit., p. 56.

1926-27, in which no teacher was found to have an advanced degree. 1
Since the DeBross study of 1962-63, the principals' reports were changed to give total hours of college credit, including undergraduate and graduate, instead of degrees held. Because of this change no direct comparison could be made; however, some assumptions were made in total teacher preparation as is shown in Table 17, which shows the total college hours of full-time and part-time business teachers in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70. If it were assumed that it took approximately 136 hours to obtain a bachelor's degree and from 30 to 36 hours of graduate study to obtain a master's degree, then Table 17 indicates an increase in the total percentage of business teachers who have received advanced training. This evidence was not conclusive, but it might be assumed that the number of teachers who had received advanced degrees had increased steadily in the last forty-three years.

Table 17 shows that 51.76 per cent of all business teachers had 159 or fewer hours. Of this 51.76 per cent, 34.71 per cent were females and 17.05 per cent were males. In this category, the females outnumbered the males approximately two to one. The situation is reversed for those business teachers with 160 hours or more, which was 42.15 per cent of all business teachers. In this category, 23.15 per cent were males and 19.0 per cent were females. Evident in Table 17 is the fact that more males tended to seek advanced training than did female business teachers.

¹Kauzer, op. cit., p. 22.

TABLE 17

TOTAL COLLEGE HOURS OF FULL-TIME AND PART-TIME BUSINESS
TEACHERS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS
DURING 1969-70

	Full Time		Part Time			
Total Hours	Male	Female	Male	Female	Total	Per Cent
Up to 159	139	288	26	48	501	51.76
160 to 200	147	137	34	21	339	35.02
Over 200	33	19	10	7	69	7.13
Not Given	9	_33	_8_	9	_59	6.09
Total	328	477	78	85	968	100.00

The Kauzer study in 1926-27 found no teacher with a master's degree. 1 Contrarily, in a study made in the same year, OBrien found four per cent had advanced degrees. 2 Doepke, in his study in 1937-38. found that twenty-four per cent had a master's degree. 3 Gould found, perhaps because many men and women were involved in World War II, that the number of business teachers with a master's degree had decreased to 17.28 per cent for the 1942-43 school year. 4 Three years later in 1945-46. Lockard found that only fifteen per cent of all business teachers had a master's degree. 5 Iliff found in 1948-49 that 19.1 per cent of all teachers of business subjects held a master's degree, 29.5 per cent of whom were males and 14.6 per cent were females.6 The Grabhorn study made in 1953-54 showed that 26.9 per cent of all teachers of business subjects held a master's degree. Of the 417 male teachers, 38.5 per cent had a master's degree; and of 510 female teachers, 17.3 per cent had a master's degree. The Jeffers study in 1956-57 found 29.4 per cent had a master's degree. 8 The DeBross study made

lbid.

²OBrien, op. cit., p. 13.

³Doepke, op. cit., p. 57.

⁴Gould, op. cit., p. 119.

⁵Lockard, op. cit., p. 48.

⁶Iliff, op. cit., p. 61.

Grabhorn, op. cit., pp. 52-53.

⁸Jeffers, op. cit., p. 45.

in 1962-63 found 31.3 per cent of all teachers of business had a master's degree, with 19.4 per cent being males and 12.0 per cent being females. 1

Salaries

Table 18 presents the salaries of full-time male and female teachers of business courses in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70. Only those teachers who were employed for a full school day were included, with the exception of non-public teachers, who were not included. Non-public teachers usually received less salary than public teachers; in addition, they sometimes received compensation other than salary, such as living accommodations. Salaries for male business teachers ranged from \$5,801 to \$11,600, with four business teachers receiving over \$11,600. The highest salary received for a male business teacher was \$12,873. Of the 315 male teachers, 64.1 per cent received over \$7,500 per year. Salaries for female business teachers ranged from \$5,000 to \$11,000. Of the 439 female business teachers, 48 per cent had salaries over \$7,500. The median salary for men was in the \$8,001-8,100 range, while the median salary for females was in the \$6,901-7,000 range. The median salary for both male and female was in the \$7,401-7,500 range.

In comparison, the DeBross study made in 1962-63 showed the salaries for women ranged from a low of \$800 to a high of \$8,300, with a median of \$4,900. The salaries for men ranged from a low of \$3,800 to a high of \$8,600, with a median of \$5,200. The median salary for all

¹DeBross, op. cit., p. 61.

TABLE 18

SALARIES OF FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE TEACHERS OF BUSINESS COURSES
IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70
(Excluding non-public teachers)

	Ma	le	Female		Total	
Salary	No. P	er Cent	No. P	er Cent	No. P	er Cent
5,000-5,500			2	.45	2	.26
5,501-5,600			3	.67	. 3	. 39
5,601-5,700			2	.45	2	. 26
5,701-5,800			5	1.12	5	.66
5,801-5,900	3	.95	13	2.90	16	2.10
5,901-6,000	1	.31	9	2.01	10	1.31
6,001-6,100	5	1.59	29	6.47	34	4.45
6,101-6,200	5	1.59	19	4.24	24	3.15
6,201-6,300	3	.95	29	6.47	32	4.19
6,301-6,400	2	.64	16	3.57	18	2.36
6,401-6,500	4	1.27	28	6,25	32	4.19
6,501-6,600	11	3.49	12	2.68	23	3.02
6,601-6,700	8	2.54	14	3.12	22	2.88
6,701-6,800	8	2.54	8	1.79	16	2.10
6,801-6,900	11	3.49	24	5.36	35	4.59
6,901-7,000	4	1.27	15*	3.35	19	2.49
7,001-7,100	11	3.49	9	2.01	20	2.62
7,101-7,200	9	2.86	9	2.01	18	2.36
7,201-7,300	10	3.17	14	3.12	24	3.15
7,301-7,400	11	3.49	6	1.34	17	2.23
7,401-7,500	7	2.22	8	1.79	15*	1.96
7,501-7,600	14	4.44	8	1.79	22	2.88
7,601-7,700	7	2.22	9	2.01	16	2.10
7,701-7,800	10	3.17	7	1.56	17	2.23
7,801-7,900	6	1.91	12	2.68	18	2.36
7,901-8,000	3	.95	13	2.90	16	2.10
8,001-8,100	7*	2.22	13	2.90	20	2.62
8,101-8,200	7	2.22	6	1.34	13	1.70
8,201-8,300	7	2.22	7	1.56	14	1.84
8,301-8,400	4	1.27	2	.45	6	. 79
8,401-8,500	10	3.17	9	2.01	19	2.49
8,501-8,600	3	.95	6	1.34	9	1.18
8,601-8,700	6	1.91	10	2.23	16	2.10
8,701-3,800	6	1.91	6	1.34	12	1.57
8,801-8,900	6	1.91	4	.89	10	1.31
8,901-9,000	6	1.91	5 4	1.12	11	1.44
9,001-9,100	9	2.86		.89	13	1.70
9,101-9,200	5	1.59	3	.67	8	1.05
9,201-9,300	4	1.27	6	1.34	10	1.31

TABLE 18 (continued)

<u></u>	Male		Fe	emale	Total	
Salary	No.	Per Cent	No.	Per Cent	No.	Per Cent
9,301- 9,400	2	•64		.89	c	70
9,301- 9,400	8	2.54	4 3	.67	6 11	.79 1.44
9,501- 9,600	4	1.27	3	.07	4	.52
9,601- 9,700	3	.95		.89	7	.92
9,701- 9,800	3	.95	4 2	. 45	5	.66
	3 4	1.27	4	.45 .89	8	
9,801- 9,900 9,901-10,000	2	.64	1	.22		1.05 .39
	2		1		3	
10,001-10,100	6	.64		.22	3 - 7	.39
10,101-10,200	7	1.91	1	.22	-	.92
10,201-10,300		2.22	5	1.12	12	1.57
10,301-10,400	2	.64	1	.22	. 3	.39
10,401-10,500	3 2	.95	2 2	•45	5	.66
10,501-10,600		.64	2	.45	4	.52
10,601-10,700	5	1.59			5	.66
10,701-10,800	3	.95	_		3	. 39
10,801-10,900	4	1.27	1	.22	5	.66
10,901-11,000	4	1.27	4	.89	3	1.05
11,001-11,100					0	
11,101-11,200	1	.31			1	.13
11,201-11,300	3	•95			3	. 39
11,301-11,400					0	
11,401-11,500	2	.64			2	.26
11,501-11,600	1	.31			1	.13
Over 11,600	4	1.27			4	.52
Not Given		2.22	9	2.01	<u>16</u>	2.10
Total	315	100.00	448	100.00	763	100.00

^{*}Indicates medians.

business teachers revealed by that study was \$5,000. This study showed an increase of \$2,500 in the median salary of all business teachers from 1962-63 to 1969-70, with an increase of \$2,900 in the median salary of male business teachers and an increase of \$2,100 in the median salary for female business teachers. These data indicated that salaries of female business teachers did not increase as rapidly as did the salaries of male teachers.

The Kauzer study made in 1926-27 indicated a median salary of \$1,503 for all teachers of shorthand and typewriting. The highest salary reported for males was \$2,600; the highest salary for females was \$1,872.² In that same year, OBrien found the median salary of business teachers to be in the \$1,440 to \$1,520 group, approximately the same as that of Kauzer.³ Ridgway, in a study in 1931, found the median salary of all business teachers to be \$1,453.⁴ Fink, in a 1930-31 study, found that yearly salaries varied from \$900 to \$3,400, with a median of \$1,500.⁵ Doepke, in his study of 1937-38, classified median salaries according to school classifications so no direct comparison could be made with this study; however, the median salary for class A schools was \$1,245 for males and \$1,023 for females; for class B schools, the median salary for male business teachers was \$987.50 and \$833.34 for females; for

¹Ibid., pp. 64-68.

²Kauzer, op. cit., pp. 27-28.

³OBrien, op. cit., p. 15.

⁴Ridgway. op. cit., p. 48.

⁵Fink, op. cit., p. 35.

class C schools, the median was \$893.75 for males and \$807.60 for females. 1 Apparently, a decrease occurred in salaries paid to business teachers from the 1930-31 study to the 1937-38 study. In the 1942-43 study, Gould found the median salary for all teachers of business subjects to be \$1,295.68; for male business teachers, the median was \$1,689.25 and, for female business teachers, the median was \$1,230.34. The difference between the median salaries of males and females was approximately \$450.2 The Iliff study for 1948-49 showed the median salary for all business teachers, excluding administrators, was \$2,716.10; for males, the median was \$3,903.15; and for females, the median was \$2,621.25. Excluding administrators, the median for males was about \$475 above that for females. The lowest salary reported for females was \$1,755; the highest was \$3,900. The salary for males ranged from \$2,000 to \$4,400, excluding administrators. 3 Grabhorn, in his study for the year 1953-54, found that the salaries ranged from \$2,600 to \$5,610, with a median of \$3,660 for male business teachers. Male administrators and male teachers in private schools were excluded from these figures. Excluding women administrators and teachers in private schools, the salaries ranged from \$1,260 to \$4,815 for females, with a median of \$3,300. With the above exclusions, the median salary for males was \$360 above that for females. The median for all business teachers was \$3.450. 4 Jeffers, in her study for 1956-57, found the median for male

¹Doepke. op. cit., p. 51.

²Gould, op. cit., p. 120.

³Iliff, op. cit., pp. 93-100.

⁴Grabhorn, op. cit., pp. 72-75

business teachers fell within the range from \$4,000 to \$4,399, while the median for female business teachers was between \$3,600 and \$3,999.

All of the studies since Gould's of 1942-43, a period of twenty-seven years, showed that male business teachers received a larger salary than did female business teachers. In 1942-43, the difference between male and female business teachers was approximately \$450. This difference fell to \$360 in the Grabhorn study of 1953-54 and then fell further to \$300 in the DeBross study in 1962-63. This study, however, showed the difference to be \$1,100, considerably more than any previous study.

Table 19 compares the salaries of full-time male and female business teachers with college hours under 160 and business teachers with college hours over 160 in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70. As the table shows, there appears to be a correlation between teacher preparation and the amount of salary received. For males, a difference of \$1,900 existed between the median salary of those business teachers who had less than 160 hours of college credit and the median salary of those who had more than 160 hours. The median salary of male business teachers who had less than 160 college hours fell in the \$7,101-7,200 range, while the median salary of those male business teachers who had more than 160 college hours fell in the \$9,001-9,100 range. For females, a difference of \$1,800 existed between the median salary of those business teachers who had less than 160 hours of college credit and the median salary of those who had more than 160 hours. The median salary of female business teachers who had less than 160 college hours fell in the \$6,501-6,600

¹ Jeffers, op. cit., p. 66.

A COMPARISON OF SALARIES OF FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE BUSINESS
TEACHERS WITH COLLEGE HOURS UNDER 160 AND BUSINESS
TEACHERS WITH COLLEGE HOURS OVER 160 IN KANSAS
SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70
(Excluding non-public teachers)

		Hours Und			Hours O	
Salary	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total
5,000-5,500	•	2	2			0
5,501-5,600		3	3			0
5,601-5,700		2	2			0
5,701-5,800		5	5			0
5,801-5,900	3	12	15			0
5,901-6,000	1	8	9			C
6,001-6,100	5	27	32		2	2
6,101-6,200	4	16	20	1	2	3
6,201-6,300	3	24	27		1	1
6,301-6,400	1	16	17	1		1
6,401-6,500	4	25	29		3	3
6,501-6,600	6	12*	18	5		5
6,601-6,700	8	12	20		2	2
6,701-6,800	7	8	15*	1		1
6,801-6,900	8	19	27	2	5	7
6,901-7,000	3	9	12		5	5
7,001-7,100	10	7	17	1	1	5 2
7,101-7,200	8*	7	15	1	1	2
7,201-7,300	5	11	16	5	3	8
7,301-7,400	6	4	10	5	2	7
7,401-7,500	4	2	6	3	6	9
7,501-7,600	9	5	14	5	3	8
7,601-7,700	6	6	12	1	3	4
7,701-7,800	6	5	11	4	2	6
7,801-7,900	1	4	5	5	7	12
7,901-8,000	3	3	6		10	10
8,001-8,100	4	3	7	3	10	13
8,101-8,200	1	3	4	6	3	9
8,201-8,300	2	4	6	5	3	8
8,301-8,400	2		2	2	2*	4
8,401-8,500	3	4	7	7	5	12
8,501-8,600		3	3	3	2	5
8,601-8,700	2	1	3	4	9	13
8,701-8,800	1	3	4	5	3	8:
8,801-8,900		2	2	6	2	8
8,901-9,000		1	1	6	4	10
9,001-9,100		2	2	9*	2	11

TABLE 19 (continued)

\\						
	College 1	Hours Und	er 160	College	Hours O	ver 160
Salary	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total
				_	_	_
9,101- 9,200			0	5	3	8
9,201- 9,300	1		1	3	5	8
9,301- 9,400			0	2	4	6
9,401-9,500	1		1	7	3	10
9,501- 9,600			0	4		4
9,601- 9,700	1		1	2	4	6
9,701- 9,800			0	. 3	2	5
9,801- 9,900			0	4	4	8 3 3 6
9,901-10,000			0	2	1	3
10,001-10,100			0	2	1	3
10,101-10,200	1		1	5	1	6
10,201-10,300			0	7	、 5	12
10,301-10,400			0	2	1	3
10,401-10,500			0	3	2	5
10,501-10,600			0	2	2	4
10,601-10,700			0	5		5 3
10,701-10,800			0	3		3
10,801-10,900	1		1	3	1	4
10,901-11,000	_		0	4	4	8
11,001-11,100			Ö			0
11,101-11,200			Ö	1		1
11,201-11,300			Ö	3		3
11,301-11,400			Ô	_		0
11,401-11,500			Ö	2		2
11,501-11,600			Õ	ī		1
Over 11,600	•		•	4		4
Not Given	3	4	7	4	3	7

^{*}Indicates Medians.

range, while the median salary of those female business teachers who had more than 160 college hours fell in the \$8,301-8,400 range. For all teachers of business subjects, the difference was \$2,000, with a median salary of \$6,701-6,800 for those who had less than 160 hours of college credit and a median salary of \$8,701-8,800 for those with more than 160 hours. Table 20 reflects that the difference between the median salaries of male and female business teachers who had less than 160 hours of college credit was \$600, and the difference between the median salaries of male and female business teachers who had more than 160 hours was \$700. The difference between the median salary of all business teachers who had less than 160 hours was \$2,000. Apparently, business teachers were being rewarded for continuing to prepare themselves for teaching.

The DeBross study in 1962-63 showed that male business teachers with a bachelor's degree had a median salary of \$5,000; females had a median salary of \$4,700; and for both the median salary was \$4,800. For teachers with a master's degree the median for male business teachers was \$6,100; for females, the median was \$5,600, and for all business teachers, the median was \$5,900. The difference in the median salary of all business teachers who had a bachelor's degree and the median salary of those who had a master's degree was \$1,100, \$900 less than the \$2,000 difference shown by this study. This study showed a considerable increase in compensation for those business teachers who had more preparation, with male teachers receiving the greatest increase, a fact

¹DeBross, op. cit., p. 75.

MEDIAN SALARIES OF TEACHERS OF BUSINESS SUBJECTS WITH LESS THAN
160 HOURS AND TEACHERS WITH MORE THAN 160 HOURS IN KANSAS
SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70
(Excluding non-public teachers)

Sex	Teachers with less than 160 hours	Teachers with mo than 160 hours				
Male	7,100	9,000				
Female	6,500	8,300				
Both	6,700	8,700				

that was found in previous studies. Iliff, in her study for 1948-49, also found a close relationship between graduate degrees and salaries. In that study, make teachers with a bachelor's degree had a median salary of \$3,099 and for those teachers with a master's degree, the median was \$3,599, an increase of approximately \$500. For females with a bachelor's degree, the median salary was \$2,609.68. With a master's degree, the median salary of female teachers was \$2,840, an increase of a little over \$200. She found that for teachers with a master's degree the difference between salaries of males and females was a little over \$700.\frac{1}{2}\$ Grabhorn, in his study for 1953-54, found the median salary for men, excluding administrators, was \$4,050 and \$3,500 for women. Male business teachers with a master's degree received approximately \$500 more than those with a bachelor's; for females, the increase was approximately \$300.\frac{2}{2}\$

Table 21 reflects the high, low, and median salaries of full-time business teachers in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70 in comparison with their years of teaching experience. The highest salary of \$12,800 paid to a male business teacher was found in the eleven to fifteen years of experience group; the highest salary of \$10,900 paid to female business teachers was found in the eleven to fifteen, the twenty-one to twenty-five, and the over thirty years of experience groups. The lowest salary paid to male first-year business teachers was \$5,800; the same is true of first-year female teachers, with their lowest salary being \$5,400.

¹Iliff, op. cit., pp. 106-108.

²Grabhorn, op. cit., pp. 82-84.

TABLE 21

HIGH, LOW, AND MEDIAN SALARIES OF FULL-TIME BUSINESS TEACHERS
IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70
COMPARED WITH TEACHING EXPERIENCE
(Excluding non-public teachers)

Years of	Highest	Lowest		Median for
Experience	Salary	Salary	Median	Both Sexes
First Year:	•			\$ 6,100
Male	\$ 7,500	\$ 5,800	\$ 6,600	
Female	6,900	5,400	6,000	
1 to 5:				6,800
Male	10,800	5,900	7,200	
Female)	9,200	5,600	6,500	
6 to 10:				7,900
Male	11,200	6,500	3,100	-
Female	9,200	6,300	7,700	
11 to 15:				8,900
Male	12,800	7,300	9,400	
Female	10,900	6,400	8,400	
16 to 20:				8,700
Male	11,400	6,500	9,500	
Female	10,800	6,500	8,600	
21 to 25:				8,800
Male	11,500	8,800	10,400	
Female	10,900	6,200	7,600	
26 to 30:				9,000
Male	10,200	8,700	9,400	
Female	10,300	6,000	9,200	
Over 30:				8,700
Male	10,800	8,000	8,800	
Female	10,900	6,600	8,400	•
Over 40:				10,200
Male	10,800	10,800	10,800	
Female	10,200	7,000	9,100	

The median salary for male business teachers rose steadily from the \$6,600 for beginning teachers until after twenty-five years of experience, then dropped until the over forty years of experience was reached. For females, the median rose from \$6,000 for first-year business teachers until after the twentieth year of experience was reached, at which time the median salary dropped considerably. Thereafter, the median for female business teachers was erratic. These figures indicated that there was a correlation between years of experience and salary, but there was a point where this correlation ceased to be a factor.

In the DeBross study in 1962-63, the highest salary of \$8,600 paid to a male business teacher was found in the over thirty years of experience category, and the highest salary of \$8,300 for a female business teacher was found in the over forty years of experience group. The lowest salary of \$3,800 paid to males was the same for one to five years and six to ten years of experience. The lowest female salary of \$800 appeared in the twenty-one to twenty-five years of experience category. Her study showed a median salary range of \$4,700 to \$6,000 for both male and female business teachers, making a difference of \$1,300. In that study, DeBross found that there, too, was a point at which the median salary, in relation to experience, tended to decrease or remain steady. The Iliff study for 1948-49 showed the median salary ranging from \$2,644.40 to \$3,050.00, a difference of \$405.60. Grabhorn, in his study for the year 1952-53, showed a range from \$3,300 to \$3,850,

¹DeBross, op. cit., p. 78.

²Iliff, op. cit., p. 109.

a difference of \$550. This study showed a range from \$6,100 to \$10,200, a difference of \$4,100. This difference was significantly higher than the \$1,300 shown by the DeBross study.

First-Year Business Teachers

This study shows that Kansas secondary schools, both public and non-public, employed 105 first-year full-time business teachers for the school year 1969-70. Ninety-eight of these teachers were employed by public schools. Of this number, thirty-one were male and sixty-seven were female. Table 22 shows the salaries of the ninety-eight full-time first-year business teachers in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70. The lowest salary paid to male business teachers was in the \$5,801-5,900 range, with the highest in the \$7,501-7,600 range. For females, the lowest salary was in the \$5,401-5,500 range with the highest in the \$6,901-7,000 range. For first-year business teachers, the median for females was \$6,001-6,100, while the median salary for males was in the \$6,601-6,700 range. The median for all first-year business teachers was in the \$6,101-6,200 range. In the DeBross study of 1962-63, the median salary for first-year business teachers was \$4,400, excluding four teachers who taught half day or less and one teacher whose salary could not be determined. 2 Compared with the DeBross study, this study showed an increase of \$1,800 in the median salaries of first-year business teachers.

¹Grabhorn, op. cit., p. 85.

²DeBross, op. cit., p. 95.

TABLE 22

SALARIES OF NINETY-EIGHT FULL-TIME FIRST-YEAR BUSINESS TEACHERS
IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70
(Excluding non-public teachers)

Salary	Male	Female	Total
5,401-5,500		2	2
5,501-5,600		3	3
5,601-5,700		1	1
5,701-5,800		4	4
5,801-5,900	3	9	12
5,901-6,000		2	2
6,001-6,100	4	16*	20
6,101-6,200	1	7	3*
6,201-6,300		9	9
6,301-6,400		3	3
6,401-6,500	1	8	9
6,501-6,600	4	1	5
6,601-6,700	5*	1	6
6,701-6,800	2		2
6,801-6,900	3		3
6,901-7,000	1	1	2
7,001-7,100			0
7,101-7,200	1		1
7,201-7,300	3		3
7,301-7,400			0
7,401-7,500			0
7,501-7,600	2		2
Not Given	1		1

^{*}Indicates median.

Table 23 shows the teaching field combinations of 105 full-time, first-year business teachers in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70. Nearly ninety-two per cent of these business teachers taught in the business field only. Approximately 31 per cent more teachers taught business only than was shown by the DeBross study in 1962-63, which found 60.6 per cent of the first-year teachers teaching in the business field only. This study showed only nine first-year business teachers, or 8.6 per cent, teaching outside the business field, as compared with 39.4 per cent in 1962-63. Three teachers taught physical education, two taught social science, two taught English, and one teacher each taught mathematics and yearbook. In one other study made by Grabhorn in 1953-54, physical education was the most popular teaching field combination for both men and women. The second most popular field combination was social science for men and home economics for females. 2

Table 24 shows the teaching course combinations of full-time, first-year business teachers in Kansas secondary schools during 1969-70. Eighteen of the 105 teachers taught one business subject, twenty-one taught two, thirty-one taught three, twenty-one taught four, thirteen taught five, and one teacher taught six. Of the ninety-four first-year business teachers studied by DeBross in 1962-63, fourteen taught one business course, seventeen taught two, thirty-seven taught three, nineteen taught four, and six taught five business subjects. The number

¹Ibid., p. 84.

Grabhorn, op. cit., p. 92.

TABLE 23

TEACHING FIELD COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME FIRST-YEAR BUSINESS TEACHERS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70 (Including non-public teachers)

Teaching Field Combination	Male	Female	Total
Business only	31	65	96
Business:	.,		
Physical Education	2	1	3
Social Science	1	1	2
English		2	2
Mathematics	1		1
Yearbook		1	1

TABLE 24

TEACHING COURSE COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME FIRST-YEAR BUSINESS TEACHERS
IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

Teaching Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting	2	9	11
Data Processing	1	1	2
Bookkeeping	1		1
Business Mathematics	1		1
Office Practice		1	1
Bookkeeping (Office Education Coordinator)	1		1
Distributive Education and Office Education Coordinator	1		ì
Typewriting, Bookkeeping	3	1	4
Typewriting, Shorthand	1	2	3
Typewriting, General Business		2	2
Typewriting, Office Practice		1	1
Typewriting, Business Mathematics		1	1.
Typewriting, Business English		1	1
Typewriting, Marketing		1	1
Typewriting, Record Keeping		1	1
Typewriting, Marketing and Distribution	. 1		1
Typewriting, Business Law		1	1.
Bookkeeping, Business Mathematics	1		1
Bookkeeping, Record Keeping	1		1
Business Law, Economics	1		1
General Business, Record Keeping	1		1
Business Economics, Record Keeping	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand	1	7	8
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice	3	1	4

TABLE 24 (continued)

Teaching Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business	2	1	3
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice		3	3
Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business	1	1	2
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Mathematics	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Economics	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Law	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Data Processing	1		1
Typewriting, General Business, Office Practice		1	1
Typewriting, General Business, Business English		1	1
Typewriting, Business Law, Business Mathematics		1	1
Bookkeeping, Business Economics, General Business		1	1
Shorthand, Office Practice, Business English		1	1
Business Economics, Business Law, Business Principles	1		1
General Business, Salesmanship, Distributive Education (Office Education			
Coordinator)	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice		6	6
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand, General Business		2	2
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Law	1	1	2
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business		2	2
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, General Business, Office Practice	•	2	2
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Economics		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Mathematics		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Machines	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice, General Business		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Business Law, Salesmanship		1	i
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Office Machines		1	1
Bookkeeping, Business Economics, Business Law, Business Mathematics		1	1

TABLE 24 (continued)

	Teaching Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, General Business, Office Practice		2	- 2
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Mathemati	.cs	2	2
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Office Practice, General Business, Business			
Economics		2		2
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Law		1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, General Business, Business Law		1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Economics, Business Law		1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Machines, Business			
Principles			1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Mathematics, Business			
English			1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Office Practice, Business Economics, Business	Law	1	1
Typewriting,	Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Economics, General			
Business		1		1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Office Practice, General Business, Business			•
Economics,	Business Law	1		1

of business subjects that first-year business teachers were required to teach had not changed significantly in the seven-year period.

This chapter presented the status of business education in Kansas secondary schools for the school year 1969-70 and made comparisons with other studies covering a forty-three year period beginning in 1926-27 with the Kauzer study. It also presented data and made comparisons where it was possible on the status of business teachers regarding teaching fields, course combinations, experience, tenure, and salaries.

Chapter 4

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The primary purpose of this study was to survey business education curricula in Kansas secondary schools for the school year 1969-70 to disclose the status of business education. A secondary purpose was to report trends in business education since 1926-27, the first available study by Kauzer, and to make comparisons with previous studies where comparisons were possible.

Summary and Conclusions

The summaries and conclusions that follow were made from the data presented in the preceding chapters.

- 1. All except one of the 436 schools in Kansas offered at least one business course. Fifty per cent of the 133 junior high schools having reports on file offered at least one business course. Fifteen per cent more schools offered at least one business course in 1969-70 than in 1930-31.
- 2. Typewriting I was the most popular course, with 493 schools offering it. Bookkeeping I and Shorthand I ranked second and third is business subject offerings. Typewriting I, Bookkeeping I, and Shorthand I had been the most popular offering since 1926-27, except in three previous studies. In the Kauzer study of 1926-27 and the

Adelaide Marie Kauzer, "Status of the Teaching of Shorthand and Typewriting in Secondary Public Schools of Kansas, 1926-27," Teaching, VII (April, 1928), 11.

Snyder study of 1932-33, business mathematics ranked third. In the Meier study of 1940-41, Typewriting II ranked third. Business spelling and business geography were no longer on the list of offerings and penmanship had dropped to the bottom of the list at .2 per cent. Business machines had risen to 6.4 per cent from the 1.0 per cent in the 1942-43 Gould study. This study showed that more schools were offering more business subjects than in any previous study. The greatest gain was shown in the offering of office practice and general business. Office practice was offered by 60 per cent of the high schools, 20.8 per cent more schools than was found in the DeBross study; and general business was offered by 36.2 per cent of the secondary schools, 14.2 per cent more schools. Data processing, record keeping, office education, and notehand appeared on the list of offerings for the first time.

3. During the 1969-70 school year, twenty courses were added, dropped, or alternated but not offered. Apparently many schools found it feasible to alternate courses that could not be offered every year. Office practice and Shorthand I were the two courses most often

¹Chara M. Snyder, "A Survey of Commercial Curricula in the Secondary Schools of Kansas" (unpublished Master's thesis, Colorado State Teachers College, Greeley, 1933), p. 13.

²Elnora Frances Meier, "A Survey of Business Education in the Secondary Schools of Kansas" (unpublished Master's thesis, State University of Iowa, Iowa City, 1941), p. 7.

³Ernest B. Gould, "An Analysis of Status and Trends of Business Education in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1942-43" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1944), p. 25.

⁴Judith Ann DeBross, "A Comparative Analysis of the Status of Business Education in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1962-63," (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1964), p. 111.

alternated. General business was most frequently added. Data processing was added by ten schools and dropped by one.

- 4. Of the 968 business teachers, 406 were males and 562 were females. There were 163 part-time teachers and 805 full-time teachers. Of all business teachers, 41.94 per cent were males and 58.06 were females. Females outnumbered the males by 16.02 per cent in this study, while the DeBross study in 1962-63 showed about the same number of males as females. There was a decrease of 21 in the total number of business teachers since 1962-63, as shown by the DeBross study, and an increase of 128 teachers since the Jeffers study in 1956-57.
- 5. Unified school districts employed 905, or 93.49 per cent of the business teachers; non-public schools employed 55, or 5.68 per cent, and state schools employed 8, or .83 per cent.
- 6. No full-time business teacher was classified as an administrator; there were, however, seven part-time and administrative business teachers, all of whom were male. Compared with previous studies, there was a decrease in the number of administrators who taught business subjects. DeBross, in 1962-63, found forty-nine administrators teaching business subjects, two of whom were females. 3
- 7. Of all business teachers, 77.8 per cent taught in only one teaching field, 6.9 per cent more than that shown by the DeBross

¹Ibid., p. 112.

Charlene Fulton Jeffers, "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Kansas Secondary Schools for 1956-57" (unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1959), p. 18.

³DeBross, op. cit., p. 26.

- study. Since 1931, the percentage of teachers teaching in one field had increased from 58 per cent to 77.8 per cent in 1969-70. A comparison of previous studies with this study indicated a decrease in the percentage of teachers teaching in more than one field.
- 8. The most popular teaching field combination for males was physical education, with drivers education and social science ranking second and third. For female business teachers, the most popular teaching field combinations were English and yearbook. In comparison with previous studies, physical education appeared first in two studies and social science appeared first in three studies.
- 9. Of the 805 full-time business teachers, 87, or 10.8 per cent, taught typewriting only, the most popular teaching combination. This fact differed from the Iliff study in 1948-49, the Grabhorn study in 1953-54, and the DeBross study in 1962-63, which found the most popular subject combination was typewriting, bookkeeping, and shorthand. This study showed typewriting moving up from fourth place in the DeBross study to first place and the combination of typewriting, bookkeeping, and shorthand falling from first place in the DeBross study to third place in this study.
- 10. Of the 763 full-time public business teachers, 98, or
 12.84 per cent, were in their first year of teaching. Approximately
 one half, or 6.3 per cent, dropped from the teaching profession after
 their fourth year, whereas the DeBross study indicated that approximately
 one third dropped from the teaching profession after four years. The

¹Ibid., p. 113.

largest drop in this study was between the third and fourth year of teaching. The largest number of business teachers was in the one to five years of experience group. Thirty-five, or 4.59 per cent, business teachers had taught for over thirty years.

- years; the median experience for males was six years and five years for females. These figures represented a decrease in the median experience reported by the DeBross study in 1962-63, which showed the median years of experience for males was seven years, nine years for females, and seven years for all business teachers. The median years of experience of males fell five years in the twenty-seven years from 1942-43 to 1969-70. In the same period of time, the median years of experience for females fell only two years. This decrease was an indication that business teachers were leaving the profession.
- 12. Almost one fourth, or 23.4 per cent, of Kansas business teachers were in their first year of tenure. Of the females, 27.0 per cent were in their first year, in contrast to 18.5 per cent of the male business teachers who were in their first year of tenure. The median years of tenure for male business teachers was four years; for females, the median tenure was three years; and for all business teachers, the median was four years. Comparison with previous studies showed a gradual increase in tenure, which indicated a tendency for more permanency in teaching positions.

¹ Ibid., p. 114.

- 13. Of all business teachers, 51.76 per cent had less than 160 college hours and 42.15 per cent had 160 college hours or more. More female business teachers had less than 160 hours than did male teachers, but more male business teachers had 160 college hours or more than did female business teachers. This evidence tended to support the fact that men seek advanced training more than do women teachers.
- 14. Salaries for male business teachers ranged from \$5,800 to \$12,800. The median salary for male business teachers was in the \$8,001-8,100 range. Salaries for female business teachers ranged from \$5,000 to \$11,000 and their median salary was in the \$6,901-7,000 range. The median salary for both male and female business teachers was in the \$7,401-7,500 range, representing an increase of \$2,500 in the median salaries of all business teachers from 1962-63 to 1969-70. There was an increase of \$2,900 in the median salaries of male business teachers and an increase of \$2,100 in the median salaries of female business teachers. These data indicated that salaries of female teachers did not increase as rapidly as did the salaries of male teachers.
- 15. Of the 315 male business teachers, 64.01 per cent received over \$7,500 and 38.8 per cent of the 448 female business teachers received over \$7,500.
- 16. There appears to be a correlation between teacher preparation and the amount of salary received. For males, a difference of \$1,900 existed between the median salary of those business teachers who had less than 160 hours of college credit and the median salary of those

¹Ibid., p. 115.

who had 160 hours or more. The median salary of male business teachers who had less than 160 college hours fell in the \$7,101-7,200 range, while the median salary of those male business teachers who had 160 college hours or more fell in the \$9,001-9,100 range. For females, a difference of \$1,800 existed between the median salary of those business teachers who had less than 160 hours of college credit and the median salary of those who had 160 hours or more. The median salary of female business teachers who had less than 160 college hours fell in the \$6,501-6,600 range, while the median salary of those female business teachers who had 160 college hours or more fell in the \$8,301-8,400 range. For all teachers of business subjects, the difference was \$2,000, with a median salary of \$6,701-6,800 for those who had less than 160 hours of college credit and a median salary of \$8,701-8,800 for those with 160 hours or more. Business teachers were rewarded for advanced college work.

- 17. As had been found in previous studies, the salaries for males tended to be higher and to increase more rapidly than did salaries for females. The difference between male and female business teachers who had less than 160 hours of college credit was \$600; the difference between the median salaries of male and female business teachers who had more than 160 hours of college credit was \$700, with male teachers receiving more in each instance.
- 18. For first-year business teachers, the lowest salary paid to male business teachers was in the \$5,801-5,900 range and the highest was in the \$7,501-7,600 range. For first-year female business teachers, the lowest salary was in the \$5,401-5,500 range with the highest in the

\$6,901-7,000 range. The median for first-year female business teachers was in the \$6,001-6,100 range, while the median salary for male business teachers was in the \$6,601-6,700 range. Compared with the DeBross study in 1962-63, this study showed an increase of \$1,800 in the median salary of first-year business teachers.

- 19. Of the 105 first-year, full-time business teachers, 98 taught in the public schools; 35 were males and 70 were females.
- 20. Of all full-time, first-year business teachers, 91.4 per cent taught in the business field only, 30.8 per cent more than in the DeBross study in 1962-63. Only 8.6 per cent of the first-year business teachers taught outside the business field in this study, as compared with the 39.4 per cent in the DeBross study in 1962-63, further indication that fewer teachers were required to teach outside their field.

Recommendations

- 1. Even though the trend, according to this study, was toward fewer teachers teaching outside the business field, prospective business teachers should be alert as to the need for certification in another field, as they are often expected to teach in more than one field.
- 2. As there was a direct correlation between teacher preparation and salary, teachers should seek additional college work toward an advanced degree.
- 3. Because the State Department of Fublic Instruction has periodically changed the school classifications, future studies should

¹ Ibid., p. 84.

classify schools according to size. This classification would remain constant even though the State Department of Public Instruction did reclassify schools.

- 4. As a large number of business teachers left the teaching profession within the first five years, studies should be made to determine why they left, to what degree they were successful, and to what occupations they turned.
- 5. A study should be made in which a comparison is made of teachers leaving the business teaching profession with teachers who leave other fields to determine if there is a significant difference.
- 6. It has been recommended that studies be made for each fiveyear period; but since state regulations have become prevalent, it would seem that a curriculum survey need not be made more than once in ten years.
- 7. Since salaries showed the greatest change, a survey of teachers' salaries should be made every other year.
- 8. Some system of course description should be devised by the State Board of Public Instruction so that there would be some consistency in names of courses and course content.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

. . .

- DeBross, Judith Ann. "A Comparative Analysis of the Status of Business Education in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1962-63" Unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1964.
- Poepke, Fred W. "Commercial Education in Kansas High Schools, 1934-35 and 1937-38." Unpublished Master's thesis, The University of Kansas, Lawrence, 1939.
- Fink, E. L. "Commercial Teachers and Commercial Education in Kansas High Schools." Unpublished Master's thesis, The University of Kansas, Lawrence, 1931.
- Gould, Ernest B. "An Analysis of the Status and Trends of Business Education in Kansas Secondary Schools for 1942-43." Unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1944.
- Grabborn, Fred W. "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Secondary Schools of Kansas for 1953-54." Unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1954.
- Iliff, Kathryn Mary. "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Kansas Secondary Schools for 1948-49." Unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1950.
- Irwin, Frank L. "A Comparative Study of the College Preparation, Teaching Combinations, and Salaries of Kansas High School Teachers,"

 Builetin of Information, pp. 1-38. Bulletin of the Graduate
 Division, Studies in Education, Vol. 18, No. 9. Emporia: Kansas
 State Teachers College, November, 1946.
- Jeffers, Charlene Fulton. "The Status of Teachers of Business Subjects in the Kansas Secondary Schools for 1956-57." Unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1959.
- Kansas State Department of Education. 1969-70 Accredited Elementary and Secondary Schools. Topeka: Kansas State Printing Plant, 1970.
- Kansas State Department of Education. Rules, Regulations, Standards, and Procedures for Accrediting High Schools. Bulletin 201.

 Topeka: Kansas State Printing Plant, 1970.
- Kauzer, Adelaide Marie. "Status of the Teaching of Shorthand and Typewriting in Secondary Public Schools of Kansas, 1926-27," Teaching, 8:1-36, April, 1928.

- Lockard, Gene K. "A Comparative Study of the College Preparation, Teaching Combinations, and Salaries of Kansas High School Administrators and Teachers," Unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1946.
- Meier, Elnora Frances. "A Survey of Business Education in the Secondary Schools of Kansas." Unpublished Master's thesis, State University of Iowa, Iowa City, 1941.
- National Business Education Association. Business Education Meets the Challenge of Change. Fourth Yearbook. Washington, D. C.: National Business Education Association, 1966.
- OBrien, F. P. "The Status of Business Courses in the High School,"
 University of Kansas Bulletin of Education, 2:1-26, October, 1928.
- Portor, Gerald A. "The Survey Study in Business Education," <u>National</u>
 <u>Business Education Quarterly</u>, XXXV (December, 1966), 29.
- Punke, Harold H. "Business Education and Civic Responsibility,"

 Balance Sheet, LI (September, 1969), 6.
- Ridgway, C. W. "A Comparative Study of the Training and Teaching Combinations of Kansas High School Teachers." Unpublished Master's thesis, Kansas State Teachers College, Emporia, 1931.
- Snyder, Clara M. "A Survey of Commercial Curricula in the Secondary Schools of Kansas." Unpublished Master's thesis, Colorado State Teachers College, Greeley, 1933.

APPENDIXES

47-11-

Appendix A

.•

APPENDIX A

DATA CONCERNING EMPLOYED TEACHER

Name of Tea	cher			Sex
Name of Sch	001			
		perience		
Number of Y	ears in Present	Position		
	ollege Hours			
Hours in Field	Hours in Subject	Subject Taught	No. in Class	Period
1				
2				
3	<u> </u>			
4	****		-	
5	Manage 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			
6				
7.				
8.	*************************************		-	
Other Field	s of Teaching			
Annual Sala	nry		_	
Full time		Part time	Admí	n.

DATA CONCERNING EMPLOYING SCHOOL

Name of School		
Location		
Classification	Number of Teachers	
Enrollment 9th	12th	
. 10th	Total	
11th		
Subjects Added This Year	Subjects Dropped Subjects Alterna This Year But Not Offered This	
1.		
2.		
Business Subjects O	fered in 1969-70:	
1. Economics	16. Business Principles	
2. Bookkeeping I	17. Personal Typewriting	
3. Bookkeeping II	18. Record Keeping	
4. Business English	19. Data Processing	
5. Shorthand I	20. Penmanship	
6. Shorthand II	21. Distributive Ed	
7. Typewriting I	22. Notehand	
8. Typewriting II	23. Computer Programming	
9. Office Practice	24.	 -
10. Business Economi	s <u></u> 25.	
ll. General Business	26.	
12. Office Machines	27.	
13. Business Mathema	ics 28.	
14. Business Law	29.	
l5. Salesmanship	30.	

Appendix B

Kansas State Department of Education, 120 E. 10th, Topeka 66612

County						, Superintendent, Ph. N				No Area Code							
Building Principal					, Mailing Address					, Zip Code							
List Principal, then alphabetically list teachers and include all special service personnel. In 17 and 17a indicate time assigned to this building.		Previous Status	No. of Expending Du- Inc	Yesra rience, Not lude	С	Kansas ertificat	te	Last college		and	Education Teaching Load			, <u>. </u>	part paid	Full part	l or
Give full name. Do not use initials. Married women should include maiden name if certificate was issued prior to marriage.	Sex	District number and county or city taught in last year or occupation last year	This School	In Other Schools	Type or Code Number	Expir Da Mo.	ration ate Yr.	attended and total sem. hours completed 9-15-	Sem. hours in field	Sem. hours in subject	List assignment by grade(s), or subject(s), or service(s)	Semester	Number in class firs	Period in school day	Contract s indicate the from PL 85	Use to	near-
• (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9) (9a)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)	(17a)
Example of Name and Number Last Smith First Mary Middle Jane Maiden Jones Teacher Number 3652789 Social Security Number 376-42-4004	F		1	8	105	3	72	K. S. U. 124 Do not use this column	45 45 28 28 45 45 45	24 24 6 6 7 24	English I English I Constitution Economics Spoech Journalism English I	1-2 1-2 1 2 1 2 1-2	24 22 20 18 19	1 2 4 4 5 5 6	7500	P. L. 89-10	Non P. L. 82-10
																93	na managan n Managan na managan na m

CERTIFIED PERSONNEL QUALIFICATIONS AND SERVICES PERFORMED Kansas State Department of Education, 120 E. 10th, Topeke 66612

County	, I	District Number	-		·		, 8	Superin	atende	nt	·	, Ph.	No		An	ea Co	le	
Building Principal		, School Building					, Mailing Address							, Zip Code				
List Principal, then alphabetically list teachers and include all special service personnel. In 17 and 17a indicate time assigned to this building.		Previous Status	No. of Years Experience, Do Not Include		Kansas Certificate		1	Education and Teaching Load										uli or
Give full name. Do not use initials. Married women should include maiden name if certificate was issued prior to marriage.	Sex	District number and country or city taught in last year or occupation last year	1 773 :		Type or Code Number	Expiration Date Mo. Yr.		Last college attended and total sem, hours completed 9-15-		Sem. hours in field	Sem. hours in subject	List assignment by grade(a), or subject(s), or service(s)	Semester	Number in class first semester	Period in echool day	Contract salary also fredicate that part paid from PL 39-10 funds	part time? Use to near- est tenth	
(1)	$\overline{(2)}$	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)		(9a)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	(16)	(17)	(17a)
Example of Name and Number Last Smith Farst Mary Middle Jane Maiden Jones Teacher Number 3652789 Eddid Security Number 376-42-4004	F		1	3	105	9	72	K. 8	Do not use this col-	45 45 28 28 45 45 45	24 24 6 6 7 24	English I English I Constitution Economics Speech Journalism English I	1-2 1-2 1 2 1 2 1-2	24 22 20 18 19	1 2 4 5 5 6	7500	P. I 89-10	Non P. L. 89–10
																		o.s

Disti	ict No						DEP	ARTME	NT OF E	DUCAT	ION	Sup	erintendent	
Stree	t Address_			· ····			1	120 F 1	0th, Topel	ko 86619	2.			
City_			_Zip Code				-	1.20 1.	oun, Topen	.u, 00012	=			
Phon	e No		Area (Code									•	
Coun	ty	- (r. 			HIC	GH SCH	OOL P	PRINCI	PAL'S O	RGANIZ	ZATION R	EPORT		
				Tw	vo Copi	es due at	the Kans	sas State 1	Departme	nt of Edu	cation Octob	er 1, each y	ear.	
A. I	POLICIES	S AND O	RGANIZA	TION			,						4	
1	. Percent	age of tin	e for admi	nistratio	n. This t	ouilding			Other b	nikling				
						· ·		_	, C	-				
		-	,				•							
									e classes?					
ā	. Xumbe	r and leng	th of class	periods-	-ENCLO	SE CLASS	SCHEDUL	.E.						
	Period.		1			2	3	B	4		5	6	7	8
	Hour*.					~								
	_	of period inutes**							, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,					
7	. Are you . What de	planning	to comple (comprehe	te an eve usiv e, or	duation as	ccording to t	he Kansas į	plan this sel	nool year? Ye	s,	No	Is person respon	sible for activity fund b	onded? Yes,
			ND TEAC Septembo			nent for all g	grades inclu	ded in your	high school ar	ganization.		(a) Tot (b) Nev (c) Per	fuil-time equivalence* al number v** teachers cent of teachers that ::	re new
		7th	8t	h	9th	10th	11th	12th	Post-gradua	tes and Spec	ial Total	(b d	ivided by a)	
	Boys	į										-	our pupil teacher ratio	
	Girls Total											(Total e	nrollment given in 1 di	vided by 4a)
			rocational	technica:	school.	Girls						- ** New to	the building principal achers includes all teac	hers that were
3.	Size of a				1.5	Total 6-10	11-15	16-20	21-25	26-30	31 and Over	_ not tea	ching in your school la	st school year.
	Number Number	of pupils of classes	in class				11.13	11-20	21-20	20-30	or and Over	-		

media se	HOURS of 3. Did you use the official transcript in reporting TEACHER QUALIFICATIONS AN TEACHING LOAD? Yes, No
	il supervi- Inventory:
	uction and a) Book Materials
a. Professional: name code Lib. A. V. plant	Number of vol. Added Withdrawn Total last report this year this year on hand
	Total Books
b. Name of person and position responsible for media supervision if not liste	Filmstrips—silent
c. Nonprofessional: Number of— Adult paid Adult paid Adult nonpaid Student Teel	sound
clericalaidesassistants	tape
d. Hours of service of media center: Before school; After school	Transparency & stide sets
Total daily; Per week, summer;	Flat pictures & art prints 8mm loop films
e. Is instruction in the use of library techniques provided by the librarian?	; class-
room teacher? Beginning at grade	16mm sound films
i. Is an INSERVICE TRAINING program for teachers and students in the	use of print Maps, charts & globes
and nonprint materials in operation? Yes, No	Multimedia kits
FACILITIES of the Media Center:	Realia
a) Building—	c) Periodicals & Newspapers: Number of—
Scating capacity: Tables; Carrels; Conference rooms	; Periodicals ; Different titles ; Different titles on microfilm ;
Production area: Yes No; Total sq. ft. of media center	; Newspapers; Different titles on microfilm
Classroom collections; Central collection; Combined with study	hall; Abridged Readers' Guide; Abridged Readers' Guide;
5) District services—	Subject guide to children's magazines
Sound film library: Yes, No; A. V. production: Yes	
VTR production: Yes, No; CCTV: Yes, No; Centra	
Yes, No	SELECTION of materials for media center or instructional program
INVENTORY—Equipment: Number of—	Check hat of aids used: Sr. High School Lib. Catalog ed.
Projectors Receivers: AM/FMAMFM	
16mm Silent Sound Screens: Portable Wall mounted	
8mm Rearview	Books for Kansas Schools ed. Instructor Children's catalog. ed. Other Other
Filmstrip Microfilm: Reader_ Reader-Print Slide Cameras: Still_ Motion	Jr. High School Lib. Catalog ed. Utner
Overhead Opaque Micro Machines: Reading Teaching	
Previewers: Filmstrip_Slide VTR: ½"1" CCTV	Budget for the current school year: Total \$
Copiers: Dry Diazo Special purpose equipment Special purpose equipment	
Record players	
	Replicing and repair: 5: Media supplies 5:

with any of the listed innovations

	,	18 T	YEAR	UNITB OF			тя 17 Тив	YEAE	OF CREDIT			Tats	YEAR	OF CREDIT
66	<u> </u>	lat Sem.	2nd Sem	CREDIT			1st Sem.	2nd Sem.	CREDIT			1st Sem.	2ND SEM.	
	English I			\overline{z}		Latin I					Chorus			
War at . A.	English II	1				Latin II			}		Glee Club (girls)	ļ		·
- ma	English III.					latin III					Glee Club (boys)			
	English LY	i .				Spanish I	- د	Í	!	-	Orchestra			
Group I	Debate	ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ			Group V	Spanish II				Group VIII				
English	Speech.				Foreign	French I.			İ	Fine	Music Appreciation			
Language	Drametics	1			Languages.	French I	No. C. Brand	\		Arts.				
Arts.	Jenualism		,		Tanguage.	German I		\			Art			
	at granism.		-	<u> </u>		German II	:	- The state of the			Crafts			
		-				Cignan III,			To and	İ		1		
graph Sale						Business Mathematics				E de la constantina della cons		۲.,		
<	Cl1 No.41 Alice					Bookkeeping I	1			Group IX	Fhysical Education		-	
Market No. 180 for	General Mathematics.	į.	Carrante .			Bookkeeping II	1		i	Physical	Health			
	Algebra I		<u> </u>			Business English				11 /	Safety	i		
	Algebra II	· -				Shorthand I	1			Dank action.	blaces			
Group II	Plane Geometry				0 17	Shorthand II		i		mom. v 111	vice On Continue (VIII	o vek	,	
Math-	Solid Geometry.	-	ž		Group VI					TOTAL	NITS OF CREDIT THE	S YEAR	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
ematics.	Trigonometry	-	ğ		Business	Typewriting I	1 7	Ĭ ———						
area.		-};	\$		Education.	Typewriting II				Q::	High Schools Will Check I	Hara The	sa Coura	ou.
للمحقق مريب		·	<u>g</u>	-		Office Practice		ē		Bix year i	Offered in Grades 7 :		ne coms	7
			g —			Business Economics		# ———		7th Charle	Art		أمري	
	Citizenship					77 Ti t. T		- — –	-7		Art		,	
	Vecations		91		1	Home Economics I		۶ غ	1	11	English			
	World History		· 🌣		1	Home Economics II		<u> </u>	·		English			
	World Geography	1	_		8	Home Economics III	;	-	·		Social Studies.			
	American History				1	Woodwerk I				11	Social Studies	A**		
	American Government	, .			74	Woodwork II			- 		Mathematics.			
Group HÍ	Economics	1	ui:			Drafting					Mathematics			
Social	Sociology	1 2	_		1	Ceneral Shop,		_		i i	Home Economics.			
Studies.	International Relations	1	_			Auto Afechanics	1			II.	Home Economics.			
D F C C C C C C C C C C	Driver Education	1	Į.			Graphic Arts				11	Science			
	Family Living		-		Group VII	Metals.	! !			11	Science	•		
					Home	Plasties			<u> </u>		Industrial Arts			
		-			Economics,	Voc. Agriculture F					Industrial Arts			
		-		·	Industrial	Voc. Agriculture II		 		1)	•		`	ם
		-		ļ	Arts and	Voc. Agriculture III.	_		!		Music/			
		-			! Vocational	Voc. Agriculture IV			į ——	11	Music. /			
	General Science				Education	Voe, Home Ec. I	<u> </u>	·		!!	n Languages		,	
Sep. Strong	Earth Science		-]		Voc, Bome Ec. H	<u> </u>	<u> </u>		11 -	n Languages			
	Principal Lab. Science.	تصبيانا			,	Voc. Home Ec. III	ļ			11	al Education			
e 781	Biology Transcript	-				Voc. Home Ec. IV			!	11	al Education	• • • • •	• • • • • •	. u
Group IV	Physica			.,,			i 	1	h	Other Sub	jects:			`.
Sciences.	Cheroistry.	↓		' 	1		ļ							

	Buildings and grounds:	Simulation. Team teaching. Ungraded. Others? describe.		
	4. Describe briefly your program of in-service training of teachers.	·		,
G.	GUIDANCE Boys Girls Total	2. Counselors contracted services and time assign	ned for counseling.	
	1. Number of last year's graduates. Number presently engaged in each of the following activities: (a) Employed full time. (b) Attending junior college. (c) Attending serior college or university. (d) Attending private business or trade school. (e) Attending area vocational school. (f) Military. (g) Others. (h) Unknown. Total of items "a" through "g" must agree with 1 above	Name	Number Months Contracted	Clock Hours Per Osy
	HEALTH AND PHYSICAL EDUCATION 1. How many units of physical education do you require of boys? 2. Do you have an organized and functioning intramural program for boys? Yes 3. Does your school have the services of a school nurse? Yes IMMUNIZATION STATUS 1. Number of students enrolled who entered school in Kansas for the first time 2. Number of students included in (1) presenting certification of immunization (complet 3. Number of students included in (1) presenting exemption from immunization for religious contents.	ee or in process)		
I.	SPECIAL EDUCATION 1. Do you have special education programs in this school? Yes, No;	; if so, list:		
	2. Are you interested in establishing new programs in special education? yes, 3. Are regular graduating diplomas issued to pupils in special education classes? Yes,			
J.	VOCATIONAL EDUCATION 1. Do you have vocational education program in this school? Yes	; if so, list:		
	by certify that the statements of this report are true and correct. I and sworn before me thisday of	Signed	Principal	000
	Notary Public Superintension or Principal of Scho	Date		, 19

My commission expires_____

Appendix C

i i

/

ONE-COURSE TEACHING COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE TEACHERS OF BUSINESS SUBJECTS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting	32	55	87
Bookkeeping	6	2	8
Business Mathematics	4	3	7
General Pusiness	4	2 ·	6
Shorthand	2	3	5
Office Practice (Office Education Coordinator)		4	4
Office Practice	1	2	3
Bookkeeping (Office Education Coordinator)	3		3
Business Economics	2	1	3
Data Processing	1	1	2
Business Law	2		2
Shorthand (Office Education and Distributive Education Coordinator)		1	1
Business English (Office Education Coordinator)		1	1
Salesmanship (Office Education Coordinator)	1		1
Typewriting (Office Education Coordinator)	1		1
Business English (Distributive Education Coordinator)		1	1
Business Mathematics (Office Education Coordinator)		1	1
Record Keeping (Office Education Coordinator)	1		1
Marketing and Distribution (Distributive Education Coordinator)	1		1
(Distributive Education and Office Education Coordinator)	1		1
General Eusiness (Office Education Coordinator)		1	1
M & M (Distributive Education Coordinator)	1		1
General Business (Distributive Education and Office Education Coordinator)	_	1	1
Data Processing (Office Education Coordinator)	1	_	1

TWO-COURSE TEACHING COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE TEACHERS
OF BUSINESS SUBJECTS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

TABLE 26

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting, Bookkeeping	23	9	32
Typewriting, Shorthand	8	20	28
Typewriting, General Business	6	21	27
Typewriting, Office Practice	5	8	13
Shorthand, Office Practice	1	6	7
Bookkeeping, Business Mathematics	5		5
Typewriting, Record Keeping	1	4	5
Bookkeeping, Business Economics	2	2	4
Typewriting, Business Law	2	2	4
Typewriting, Business Mathematics	2	1	3
Typewriting, Office Machines		3	3
Typewriting, Notehand		3	3
Typewriting, Business English		3	3
Shorthand, Office Practice (Office Education Coordinator)	1	2	3
Bookkeeping, Shorthand		3	3
Bookkeeping, Business Law	1	2	3
Bookkeeping, Office Practice	1	2	3
Business Law, Business Economics	3		3
Typewriting, Data Processing	2		2
Typewriting, Business Economics	1	1	2
Bookkeeping, Data Processing	1	1	2
Bookkeeping, Record Keeping	1	1	2
Shorthand, Business Mathematics		2	2
General Business, Distributive Education (Distributive Education Coordinator)			2
Office Practice, Office Machines	1	1	2
Typewriting, Marketing		1	. 1
Typewriting, Business English (Distributive Education Coordinator)	1		1

TABLE 26 (continued)

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting, Marketing and Distribution	1		1
Typewriting, Business Principles	1		1
Typewriting, Office Practice (Office Education Coordinator)		1	1
Bookkeeping, General Business	1		1
Bookkeeping, Office Machines		1	1
Bookkeeping, Shorthand (Office Education Coordinator		1	1
Bookkeeping, Notehand	1		1
Bookkeeping, Business Economics (Office Education Coordinator)	1		1
Shorthand, Business English		1	1
Shorthand, Business Economics (Distributive Education Coordinator)		1	1
Shorthand, Notehand		1	1
Office Practice, General Business		1	1
Office Practice, Business English		1.	1
Office Practice, Office Machines (Office Education Coordinator)		1	1
Office Practice, Record Keeping		1	1
General Business, Business Mathematics		1	1
General Business, Business Economics	1		1
General Business, Salesmanship (Distributive Education Coordinator)	1		1
General Business, Record Keeping	1		1
Data Processing, Computer Programming		ī	1
Data Processing, Retailing	1		1
Business Mathematics, Office Machines	1		1
Business Economics, Record Keeping	1		1

TABLE 27

THREE-COURSE TEACHING COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE TEACHERS OF BUSINESS SUBJECTS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand	11	41	52
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice	12	28	40
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice	12	9	21
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business	17	4	21
Typewriting, Office Practice, General Business	2	4	6
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Economics	4	•	4
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Mathematics	3		3
Typewriting, Shorthand, General Business	1	2	3
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Law	3		3
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Machines		3	3 3 3
Typewriting, Business Machines, Business Law	3		3
Bookkeeping, Business Law, Business Economics	3		
Bookkeeping, Business Economics, General Business	2	1	3
Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business	1	2	3
Typewriting, Shorthand, Business English		2	2
Typewriting, Business Law, Business Mathematics		2	2
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice (Office Education Coordinator)		2	2
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Data Processing	2		2
Typewriting, Office Practice, Business English	1	1	2 2
Bookkeeping, Business Law, General Business	2		2
Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Mathematics	1	1	2
Bookkeeping, Shortnand, Office Practice		2	2
Bookkeeping, Office Practice, General Business	2		2 2 2
Bookkeeping, Business Law, Business English	2		2
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Economics	1	1	
Office Practice, Marketing and Distribution, Retailing	1	1	2
Office Practice, Computer Programming, Data Processing	2		2
Shorthand, Business Law, Business English	1	1	2

TABLE 27 (continued)

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Machines		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Record Keeping	1	-	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice (Office Education Coordinator)	-	1	ī
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business English	1	_	7
Typewriting, Shorthand, Business Mathematics	_	1	î
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice		ī	ī
Typewriting, Office Machines, Business Mathematics	1		1
Typewriting, Office Practice, Office Machines	ī		1
Typewriting, Office Practice, Business Economics	-	1	ī
Typewriting, Office Practice, Data Processing		1	1
Typewriting, Office Practice, Business Mathematics	1		1
Typewriting, General Business, Business Mathematics	1		1
Typewriting, General Business, Business English		1	1
Typewriting, General Business, Business Principles	1		1
Typewriting, General Business, Penmanship	1		1
Typewriting, Salesmanship, Business Law	-	1	1
Typewriting, Business Economics, Business Law	1		1
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Principles	1		1
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Record Keeping		1	1
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Mathematics	1		1
Bookkeeping, Ceneral Business, Business Law	1.		1
Bookkeeping, Business English, Ceneral Business		1	1
Bookkeeping, Data Processing, Business Economics	1.		1
Bookkeeping, Business Economics, Record Keeping	1		1
Shorthand, Office Practice, Office Machines		1	1
Shorthand, Office Practice, Business English		1	1
Shorthand, General Business, Business Economics		1	1
Shorthand, Notehand, Record Keeping		1	1
General Business, Business Law, Salesmanship		1	1
General Business, Business English, Data Processing		1	1

TABLE 27 (continued)

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
General Business, Business Law, Business Mathematics		1	1
General Business, Business Law, Salesmanship (Distributive Education			
Coordinator)	1		1
General Business, Salesmanship, Distributive Education (Distributive			
Education Coordinator)	1		1
Business Economics, Business Law, Business Mathematics	1		1
Business Economics, Business Law, Business Principles	1		1.
Business Law, Office Machines, Salesmanship	1		1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Record Keeping	1		1

TABLE 28

FOUR-COURSE TEACHING COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE TEACHERS
OF BUSINESS SUBJECTS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

	Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice	14	48	62
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, General Business	4	9	13
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Office Practice, General Business	2	7	9
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Economics	4	1	5
Typewriting,	Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business	1	4	5
Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, General Business, Office Practice		5	5
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Law	2	2	4
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Business Economics, Business Law	3	1	4
Bookkeeping,	Business Economics, Business Law, Business Mathematics	1	3	4
Typewriting,	Shorthand, Office Practice, Office Machines		3	3
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Office Practice, Business Mathematics	1	2	3
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Machines		2	2
Typewriting,	Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Law		2	2
Typewriting,	Office Practice, Business Economics, Business Law	1	1	2
Typewriting,	General Business, Office Practice, Penmanship	1	1	2
Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, Office Practice, Data Processing		2	2
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Mathematics	1		1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Economics		1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Mathematica		1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Office Practice, Business Economics		1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Office Practice, Business Law		1	1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Business Law, Business Mathematics	1		1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Business Mathematics, Data Processing	1		1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, Business Law, General Business	1		1
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping, General Business, Business English		1	1
	Bookkeeping, Business Economics, Business Principles	1		1
	Bookkeeping, Business Law, Business Principles		1	1

TABLE 28 (continued)

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Principles, Data Processing	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Economics, Office Machines	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Machines, Data Processing	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business, Office Machines	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Economics, Business Mathematics	1		1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Mathematics		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business English		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Notehand		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Economics		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Record Keeping	1		1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Business Law, Salesmanship		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, General Business, Office Machines	1		1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Publications		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Business Mathematics, Office Machines	1		1
Typewriting, General Business, Business Management, Data Processing	1		1
Typewriting, Office Practice, Business Mathematics, Office Machines		1	ı
Typewriting, Business Mathematics, Business Law, Business English		1	1
Typewriting, Business Economics, Business Law, Record Keeping	1		1
Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Economics, Business Law	1		1
Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Law, Data Processing	1		1
Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Law, Business Mathematics	1.		1
Bookkeeping, Office Practice, Business Mathematics, Record Keeping		1	1
Bookkeeping, Office Practice, Business English, Business Mathematics		1	1
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Economics, Record Keeping		1	1
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, General Business, Office Practice		1	. 1
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Business Law, Salesmanship	1.		1
Office Practice, Business Law, Business Mathematics, Salesmanship		1	1
Shorthand, Office Practice, Office Machines, Record Keeping		1	1

TABLE 29

FIVE-COURSE TEACHING COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE TEACHERS
OF BUSINESS SUBJECTS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

	Co	ourse Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, General Business, Office Practice	3	7	10
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, Office Practice, Eusiness			
Mathematics	3		2	3	5
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Law	1	4	5
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, Business Economics, Business Law	1	3	4
Typewriting,	Shorthand, Of	ffice Practice, Business Law, Business			
Economics				3	3
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Office Practice, Business Economics, Business			
Law		,	1	2	3
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Economics	1	1	2
		Shorthand, Office Practice, Office Machines		2	2
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, General Business, Business Law		2	2
		Shorthand, Business Economics, General Business	1	1	2
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Office Practice, General Business, Business			
Economics	. 0,	·	2		2
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	General Business, Business Economics, Business			
Law		,	1	1	2
Typewriting,	Office Practi	Ice, Business Mathematics, Business English,			
Penmanship				2	2
Typewriting,	Bookkeeping,	Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Principles		1	1
		Shorthand, Business Principles, Office Machines		1	1
		Shorthand, Business Mathematics, Business			•
English	. 07	,		1	1
_	Bookkeeping.	Shorthand, Business Law, Business Machines		1	1
		Business Economics, Business Mathematics,			
Office Mach		,,	1		1

TABLE 29 (continued)

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Law, Business Principles		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Mathematics, Business English		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Economics, Business Law		1	1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business, Business English		1	1.
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business, Business Economics	1		1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business, Business Law Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business, Data		1	1
Processing	1		1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Law, Business Machines Typewriting, General Business, Business Law, Business English, Business		1	1
Law		1	1
Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Law, Business Mathematics		1	1

SIX-COURSE TEACHING COMBINATIONS OF FULL-TIME MALE AND FEMALE TEACHERS
OF BUSINESS SUBJECTS IN KANSAS SECONDARY SCHOOLS DURING 1969-70

TABLE 30

Course Combinations	Male	Female	Total
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business, Business Economics	1	2	3
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business, Data Processing		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice, General Business, Business Law		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Law, Business Economics		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Shorthand, General Business, Business Machines, Business English		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice, Business Economics, Business Law, Office Machines		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice, General Business, Business Law, Business Mathematics		1	1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Office Practice, General Business, Business Economics, Business Law	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, Business Economics, Business Law, Business Mathematics, Salesmanship	1		· 1
Typewriting, Shorthand, Office Practice, Business Law, Business Economics, Data Processing	1		1
Typewriting, Bookkeeping, General Business, Business Economics, Business Law, Data Processing	1		1